## University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

## ScholarWorks@UARK

School of Law Catalog of Studies

Catalog of Studies

2023

## Law Catalog of Studies, 2022-2023

University of Arkansas, Fayetteville

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uark.edu/catalog-law

#### Citation

University of Arkansas, Fayetteville. (2023). Law Catalog of Studies, 2022-2023. *School of Law Catalog of Studies*. Retrieved from https://scholarworks.uark.edu/catalog-law/17

This Periodical is brought to you for free and open access by the Catalog of Studies at ScholarWorks@UARK. It has been accepted for inclusion in School of Law Catalog of Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UARK. For more information, please contact scholar@uark.edu.



## **Table of Contents**

Contact Information	2
2020-21 Academic Calendar	3
Board of Trustees	5
Administrative Officers	6
University Profile	7
School of Law	8
J.D. Admissions and Courses	8
LL.M. in Agricultural and Food Law	12
Business Law (BLAW)	13
Criminal Law (CRLW)	15
Costs & Financial Aid	17
Academic Policies	19
Students and Programs	25
Experiential Learning	25
Pro Bono Programs	25
Board of Advocates	27
Young Law Library	28
International Programs	29
Courses of Instruction	30
Business Law (BLAW)	30
Law (LAWW)	30
Glossary	42
Indov	16

## **Contact Information**

School of Law Admissions 193 479-575-4504

Waterman Hall

Dean's Office, School of Law 166 479-575-4504

Waterman Hall

## **University Switchboard**

University Switchboard 479-575-2000

# 2020-21 Academic Calendar

## Summer 2022/May Intersession May Intersession 2022 - (10 Class Days; includes Saturday)

Date	Description
May 16	Classes Begin
May 16	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
May 17	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
May 23	Last day to drop a May Intersession class wth a "W"
May 26	Last day to officially withdraw from the May Intersession
May 26	Last day of classes for the May Intersession
May 27	Final Exams

# Summer Session 2022 - 10 Week (48 Class Days)

Date	Description
May 31	Classes Begin
June 2	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
June 8	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
July 4	Independence Day Holiday
July 15	Last day to drop a 10 Week class with a "W"
Aug. 4	Last day to officially withdraw from the 10 Week session
Aug. 5	Last day of classes for the 10 Week session
Aug. 5	Last Day of Class

# Summer Session 2022 - First 5 Week (24 Class Days)

Date	Description
May 31	Classes Begin
June 1	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
June 2	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
June 22	Last day to drop a First 5 Week class with a "W"
June 30	Last day to officially withdraw from the First 5 Week session
July 1	Last day of classes for the First 5 Week session

# Summer Session 2022- Second 5 Week (24 Class Days)

Date	Description
July 5	Classes Begin
July 6	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
July 7	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
July 27	Last day to drop a Second 5 Week class with a "W"
Aug. 4	Last day to officially withdraw from the Second 5 Week session
Aug. 5	Last day of classes for the Second 5 Week session

# Summer Session 2022- 8 Week (37 Class Days)

, ,	
Date	Description
May 31	Classes Begin
June 2	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
June 6	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
July 4	Independence Day Holiday
July 8	Last day to drop an 8 Week session class with a "W"
July 20	Last day to officially withdraw from the 8 Week session
July 21	Last day of classes for the 8 Week session

## Fall 2022/August Intersession August Intersession 2022 - (10 Class Days; includes Saturday)

Date	Description
August 8	Classes Begin
August 8	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
August 9	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
August 15	Last day to drop an August Intersession class with a "W"
August 18	Last day to officially withdraw from the August Intersession
August 18	Last day of classes for the August Intersession
August 19	Final Exams

### Fall 2022 - (73 Class Days: 43 MWF, 30 TT)

,	
Date	Description
August 22	Classes Begin
August 26	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
September 2	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit

September 5	Labor Day Holiday
October 17-18	Fall Break
October 31	Advanced Registration for Spring 2023 begins for currently enrolled students
November 18	Last day to drop a full semester class with a "W"
November 23	Thanksgiving Break (student break; University offices will be open)
November 24-25	Thanksgiving Holiday
December 8	Last day to officially withdraw from all classes
December 8	Last day of classes for fall semester
December 9	Reading Day
December 12-16	Final Exams
December 17	Commencement

## 2023 Academic Calendar

## January 2023/January Intersession January Intersession 2023 - (10 Class Days; includes two Saturdays)

	•
Date	Description
January 3	Classes Begin
January 3	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
January 4	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
January 10	Last day to drop a January Intersession class with a "W"
January 13	Last day to officially withdraw from the January Intersession
January 13	Last day of classes for the January Intersession
January 14	Final Exams

## **Spring 2023 - (73 Class Days; 43 MWF, 30 TT)**

	9	•	, ,
Date			Description
Januar	y 16		Martin Luther King Day
Januar	y 17		Classes Begin
Januar	y 23		Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
Januar	y 30		Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
March	20-24		Spring Break Week
April 3			Advanced Registration for Summer and Fall 2023 terms begins for currently enrolled students
April 2	1		Last day to drop a full semester class with a "W"
May 4			Last day to officially withdraw from all classes
May 4			Last day of classes for spring semester
May 5			Reading Day

May 8-12	Final Exams
May 13	Commencement

## Summer 2023/May Intersession May Intersession 2023 - (10 Class Days; includes Saturday)

<b>3</b> ,	
Date	Description
May 15	Classes Begin
May 15	Last day to register, add a course, or change from audit to credit
May 16	Last day to drop without a mark of "W" or change from credit to audit
May 22	Last day to drop a May Intersession class with a "W"
May 25	Last day to officially withdraw from the May Intersession
May 25	Last day of classes for the May Intersession
May 26	Final Exams

# Summer Session 2023 - 10 Week (48 Class Days)

Date	Description
May 29	Memorial Day Holiday
May 30	Classes Begin
July 4	Independence Day Holiday
Aug. 4	Last day of classes for the 10 Week
	session

# Summer Session 2023 - First 5 Week (24 Class Days)

Date	Description
May 29	Memorial Day Holiday
May 30	Classes Begin
June 30	Last day of classes for the First 5 Week session

## Summer Session 2023 - Second 5 Week (24 Class Days)

Date	Description
July 3	Classes Begin
July 4	Independence Day Holiday
August 4	Last day of classes for the Second 5 Week session

## Summer Session 2023 - 8 Week (37 Class Days)

• /	
Date	Description
May 29	Memorial Day Holiday
May 30	Classes Begin
July 4	Independence Day Holiday
July 20	Last day of classes for the 8 Week session

Law\_2022-23

## **Board of Trustees**

The trustees of the University of Arkansas System are appointed by the governor of Arkansas to 10-year overlapping terms. The board sets policy for the University of Arkansas as well as other universities, colleges and institutes within the system.

## C.C. "Cliff" Gibson III, chair

C.C. "Cliff" Gibson III of Monticello is founder of Gibson and Keith Law Firm and serves as county attorney for Drew County, Ark. The former president of the Monticello Economic Development Commission, Gibson attended the University of Arkansas at Monticello and earned his Juris Doctor at the UALR Bowen School of Law. His term expires in 2023.

### Morril Harriman, vice chair

Morril Harriman of Little Rock has served as Governor Mike Beebe's chief of staff since Beebe took office in 2007. Prior to that, Harriman served 16 years in the Arkansas Senate. He earned both his bachelor and law degrees from the University of Arkansas. His term expires in 2024.

## **Ted Dickey, secretary**

Ted Dickey is a general partner at CapRocq Core real estate fund and an adviser to Innovate Arkansas, a technology entrepreneurship initiative. Dickey previously spent six years in corporate finance at Stephens Inc. He earned his bachelor's degree and was elected Phi Beta Kappa the University of Arkansas before earning his Juris Doctor at the U of A School of Law. He served on the U of A Technology Park Board and was appointed to the Arkansas Ethics Commission. His term expires in 2030.

## Kelly Eichler, assistant secretary

Kelly Eichler of Little Rock is the public policy director for Gov. Asa Hutchinson. She previously served as a deputy prosecutor for Pulaski County and on the Arkansas Board of Corrections. She earned a bachelor's degree from the University of Arkansas and a law degree from the University of Arkansas at Little Rock Bowen School of Law. Her term expires in 2026.

## **Tommy Boyer**

Tommy Boyer, of Fayetteville, graduated from the University of Arkansas, Fayetteville in 1964, where he was also an All-American basketball player. He retired from the Eastman Kodak Company in 1989, and founded Micro Images in Amarillo, Texas. Within two years, Micro Images had become the largest Kodak document imaging systems broker and reseller in the United States. Boyer was inducted into the Arkansas Business Hall of Fame in 2013 and the Arkansas Sports Hall of Fame in 2000. His term expires in 2027.

### **Sheffield Nelson**

Sheffield Nelson of Little Rock is a retired president and chief executive office of Arkla Gas. He has served on the board of the Arkansas Department of Higher Education and the Arkansas Game and Fish Commission. Nelson earned his undergraduate degree from Arkansas

State Teachers College, now the University of Central Arkansas, and his law degree from the University of Arkansas. His term expires in 2025.

#### **Steve Cox**

Steve Cox of Jonesboro graduated from the University of Arkansas in 1982 after having earned All Southwest Conference and All America honors during his football career as a punter and kicker, later playing in the NFL for the Cleveland Browns and Washington Redskins. He rose through the ranks of banking before becoming a managing partner at Rainwater and Cox LLC, which oversees ownership and management of an array of commercial, hotel and agricultural properties. His term expires in 2028.

## **Ed Fryar**

Edward Fryar Jr. of Rogers is a graduate and former professor of the University of Arkansas. He earned degrees in economics and agricultural economics and was a professor of agricultural economics for more than 13 years. He co-founded Ozark Mountain Poultry in Rogers in 2000, which grew from 15 employees to more than 1,800 before selling it in 2018. He was inducted into the Arkansas Agriculture Hall of Fame in 2019. His term expires in 2029.

## **Jeremy Wilson**

Jeremy Wilson of Bentonville is a graduate of the University of Arkansas with more than 25 years of business experience in the state. In 2012, he cofounded NewRoad Capital Partners, a private equity firm. He is also founder and chair of NOWDiagnostics, a leader in innovative diagnostic health testing. His term expires in 2031.

## Nathaniel "Nate" Todd

Retired Col. Nathaniel "Nate" Todd is director of the Arkansas Department of Veterans Affairs and previously served as the chief financial officer for the Central Arkansas Veterans Health Care System in North Little Rock. Prior to his retirement from military service after a 37-year career, he served as the director of health financial policy in the office of the U.S. Army Surgeon General. He is from Pine Bluff and is a fellow of the American College of Healthcare Executives. His term expires in 2032.

## **Administrative Officers**

## System Administration

President, University of Arkansas System — Donald Bobbitt, B.S., Ph.D.

#### **Chancellor and Vice Chancellors**

Interim Chancellor, University of Arkansas — Charles F. Robinson II, B.A., M.P.H., J.D.

Interim Provost and Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs — Terry Martin, B.S.E.E., M.S.E.E., Ph.D.

Vice Chancellor for Diversity and Inclusion — Yvette Murphy-Erby, B.A., M.S.W., Ph.D.

Vice Chancellor for Economic Development — Mike Malone, B.A., M.A.

Vice Chancellor for Finance and Administration — Ann Bordelon, B.S.B.A.

Vice Chancellor for Government and Community Relations — Randy Massanelli, B.S.B.A.

Vice Chancellor for Intercollegiate Athletics — Hunter R. Yurachek, B.S., M.A.

Vice Chancellor for Research and Innovation — John English, B.S.E.E., M.S.O.R., Ph.D.

Vice Chancellor for University Advancement — Mark Power, B.A.

#### **Deans and Vice Provosts**

Dean of Honors College — Lynda Coon, B.A., M.A., Ph.D.

Interim Dean of Dale Bumpers College of Agricultural, Food and Life Sciences — J.F. Meullenet, B.S., M.S., Ph.D.

Dean of Fay Jones School of Architecture and Design — Peter MacKeith, B.A., M.Arch.

Interim Dean of Fulbright College of Arts and Sciences — Kathryn Ann Sloan, B.A., M.A., M.B.A., PhD.

Dean of Sam M. Walton College of Business — Matt Waller, B.S., M.S., Ph.D.

Interim Dean of College of Education and Health Professions — Kate Mamiseishvili, B.A., M.A., Ph.D.

Dean of College of Engineering — Kimberly LaScola Needy, B.S.I.E., M.S.I.E., Ph.D.

Interim Dean of Graduate School and International Education — Curt Rom, B.S., M.S., Ph.D.

Dean of School of Law — Cynthia Nance, B.S., J.D., M.A.

Dean of Students — Melissa Harwood-Rom, B.A., M.F.A., M.S.Ag.E.

Dean of University Libraries — Jason J. Battles, B.A., M.A., M.L.S.

Dean of Admissions and Vice Provost for Enrollment Services — Suzanne McCray, B.A., M.A., Ph.D.

Interim Vice Provost for Academic Affairs — Kathryn Ann Sloan, B.A., M.A., M.B.A., PhD.

Vice Provost for Distance Education — Cheryl Murphy, B.A., M.A., Ed.D.

Interim Vice Provost for Faculty Affairs — Anna Zajicek, B.S., M.S., Ph.D.

Vice Provost for Planning — Colleen Briney, B.A., M.S.

Law\_2022-23

## **University Profile**

#### Vision

The University of Arkansas represents the best of public higher education, advancing Arkansas while building a better world.

### **Mission**

The University of Arkansas is determined to build a better world by providing transformational opportunities and skills, promoting an inclusive and diverse culture, nurturing creativity, and solving problems through research and discovery, all in service to Arkansas.

Since 1871, our fundamental purpose as a land-grant institution and state flagship remains unchanged — to serve the state of Arkansas as a partner, resource and catalyst by:

- Providing access to a comprehensive and internationally competitive public education, and fostering student success across a wide spectrum of disciplines.
- Utilizing research, discovery and creative activity to improve the quality of life, develop solutions to the challenges we face and drive the state's economy.
- Contributing service and expertise through outreach, engagement and collaboration.

## **History**

The University of Arkansas was founded in 1871 and will celebrate its 150th anniversary during the calendar year of 2021. The university opened its doors to students on January 22, 1872. Under the Morrill Land-Grant College Act of 1862, federal land sales provided funds for the new university, which was charged with teaching "agricultural and the mechanic arts," "scientific and classical studies," and "military tactics" to Arkansas scholars.

Statewide elections, held to establish bonds to help finance the university, eventually determined the school's location. Washington County and the city of Fayetteville submitted the highest bid, a total of \$130,000, to which was added a \$50,000 state appropriation for the benefit of the institution and \$135,000 from the sale of federal lands. With \$12,000 of this money, the university purchased a 160-acre farm, the homestead of William and Martha McIlroy, and established its campus on a hilltop overlooking the Ozark Mountains.

There were few facilities and little money that first academic year, but the eight students and three faculty members who gathered for classes in 1872 showed the same dedication to learning and commitment to excellence that has carried the University of Arkansas into the 21st century. Over the past 150 years, the university has developed into a mature institution with 10 schools and colleges, more than 1,100 full-time faculty members, and more than 26,000 students. Its graduates number more than 200,000 and their names are engraved in the sidewalks of campus, a lasting tribute unique in America.

The University of Arkansas serves as the major provider of graduate-level instruction in Arkansas. The research and scholarly endeavors of its faculty make it an economic and cultural engine for the state. And its public service activities reach every county in Arkansas, throughout the nation, and around the world. Find out more about the university's history (http://www.uark.edu/about/history.php) or browse our timeline (http://uark.edu/about/time-line.php).

# Today at the University of Arkansas Campus

Students pursue a broad spectrum of academic programs leading to baccalaureate, master's, doctoral, and professional degrees, not only in traditional disciplines within arts, humanities, social sciences, and natural sciences, but also in the core professional areas of agricultural, food and life sciences; architecture; business; education; engineering; nursing; human environmental sciences; and law.

The University of Arkansas houses more than 200 academic programs and offers bachelor's degrees in more than 75 areas of study. Students may also pursue a wide range of graduate degrees, including the Master's, the Educational Specialist, the Doctor of Education, and the Doctor of Philosophy.

The Carnegie Foundation categorizes the University of Arkansas as a research institution with "highest research activity," placing the university among only 3 percent of colleges and universities nationwide and in a class by itself within the state of Arkansas. U.S. News and World Report consistently ranks the university among the top tier of institutions of higher education. Faculty members perform cutting-edge research for which they annually win prestigious grants and awards, and the university encourages undergraduates to participate in the research process. Such opportunities enhance the learning process by providing handson experience in lab and research techniques, by developing students' abilities to implement, experiment, discover and teach, and by fostering a mentoring relationship early in students' academic careers.

Research programs involving both faculty and students serve as vital sources of information on the economic and social needs of Arkansas. In many fields, research performed at the University of Arkansas reaches beyond the state to provide insight and guidance on issues of national and international concern. The university provides extensive technical and professional services to varied groups and individuals throughout the state, helping to further Arkansas' economic growth. The university operates nationally respected self-paced (correspondence) courses; it assists other institutions in developing educational programs; it offers graduate programs, both cooperatively and singly, throughout the state; and it makes specialized campus resources such as computing services and library holdings available to other institutions in the state.

Classes at the university maintain a low average ratio of students to instructor, although individual classes may range from a large general-lecture class of 200 to a focused special-topics class of 4 or 5 students. University of Arkansas students are given the tools and encouragement needed to excel. Over the last 15 years, more than 200 undergraduate Arkansas students have become Rhodes, Gates Millennium, Madison, Marshall, Goldwater, Fulbright, Boren, Gilman and Truman scholars. More than 100 graduate students have received National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowships. Find out more about the university's numbers (http://www.uark.edu/about/by-the-numbers.php).

## **School of Law**

#### Welcome to the School of Law

The University of Arkansas School of Law is consistently ranked among the best values in legal education by the *National Jurist Magazine* and among the *U.S. News & World Report's* top tier of public law schools. The Law School prepares students for success as lawyers and leaders. Located in the heart of the beautiful University of Arkansas campus, the law school offers challenging courses taught by nationally recognized faculty, unique service opportunities, and a close-knit community.

## J.D. Admissions and Courses

Priority application deadline is April 1, but the school will review all applications on a rolling basis after that date. The school does not charge an application fee. Admission is only for the fall of each year, and only a full-time program is offered.

The School of Law prefers that prospective students apply online (https://law.uark.edu/academics/jd/jd-how-to-apply.php). The school may request more information than is listed below, but please do not send additional materials unless requested. Each file will be reviewed when it is completed.

The School of Law accepts applications throughout the year (beginning September 15) and offers admission on a rolling basis, so long as space remains in the incoming class.

Admission is only for the fall of each year, and only a full-time program is offered.

The School of Law requires J.D. and transfer applicants to apply online via Law School Admission Council. We may request more information than is listed below, but please do not send additional materials unless requested. Your file will be reviewed when it is completed.

## **Prerequisites**

Except for students in the 3/3 programs, applicants must have completed all requirements for a bachelor's degree from an accredited institution prior to the date of enrolling in the School of Law.

#### CAS

Applicants must participate in the Credential Assembly Service (CAS) and be registered with CAS during the application year. Through CAS, you are required to send the Law School Admission Council (LSAC) official transcripts from all higher education institutions you have attended.

#### **LSAT**

Applicants also must take the Law School Admission Test (LSAT) before the end of June of the year for which they seek admission. Applications to the School of Law may be submitted prior to taking the LSAT. Applicants must have taken the LSAT during the five years preceding the date of application.

The LSAT is given four times per year in Fayetteville and at other locations throughout Arkansas and in other states. Registration may be arranged online at www.lsac.org. Applicants for admission are urged to take the test at least nine months prior to expected entrance in the School of Law.

#### **Transfer Students**

A law student who has completed one year of legal studies with satisfactory academic performance in a law school accredited by the American Bar Association is eligible to be considered for transfer to the University of Arkansas School of Law. The amount of transfer credit to be granted will depend on the quality of performance and the relation of completed courses to this school's program. A maximum of 30 credits may be accepted for transfer credit. Credit or units only (not grades) are transferable. Credits will not be accepted for any course or other work in which a grade below 2.00 or equivalent is given at another law school. Failure to disclose attendance at another college or law school or expulsion or suspension is sufficient grounds to require withdrawal from the School of Law.

## 3/3 Program - Arts and Sciences

The School of Law and the Fulbright College of Arts & Sciences offer a program that enables outstanding students to enter the School of Law after their third year of college. Students in the Fulbright College are eligible to begin at the School of Law after the completion of at least 94 hours of college work if they have:

- Completed all university, college, and major course requirements for their undergraduate degree;
- Earned a cumulative GPA of at least 3.50; and
- · Received an LSAT score of at least 159.

Such students will receive a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science degree after the completion of sufficient hours of School of Law work to meet the regular requirements of the Fulbright College. These students will then receive a J.D. degree after completing the required number of hours of School of Law coursework.

## 3/3 Program – Agriculture

Exceptional students in the pre-law concentration in the Dale Bumpers College of Agricultural, Food and Life Sciences may enroll in the School of Law in their fourth year provided that all requirements have been met. Students must have:

- Completed all university, college, and major course requirements for the pre-law concentration;
- · Completed 12 hours in the specialization list for pre-law;
- Earned a cumulative GPA of at least 3.50 without grade renewal; and
- · Received an LSAT score of at least 159.

A student admitted to this program may substitute School of Law course work for the remaining total hours required for the bachelor's degree in agricultural business.

It is a requirement of the School of Law's accrediting standards that no student be admitted to the School of Law until they have completed at least three-fourths of the work necessary for the baccalaureate degree. The requirements embodied in the 3/3 programs satisfy this requirement.

## J.D./M.A. Program

The Department of Political Science, the Graduate School, and the School of Law cooperate in offering a dual degree program that allows a student to pursue the M.A. in Political Science and the J.D. degrees concurrently.

The program described below requires 36 hours as follows: the student selects:

- Seminars in political science or equivalent courses in other departments approved by the graduate adviser in political science (total of 24 hours including — 3 hours of methods and 21 hours other graduate seminars six hours of which may be thesis credit; and
- Twelve hours of elective courses taken in the law school in an area of concentration approved by the director of the M.A. program.

Students must be admitted to the M.A. program and the School of Law. If a student seeks to enter the dual degree program after enrolling in either the law school or the M.A. program, he or she must obtain admission to the other degree program during the first year of study.

The School of Law accepts 9 semester hours of M.A. courses to satisfy requirements for the J.D. degree, which can be chosen from the following courses:

PLSC 520	3 Semin	nar in American Political Instituti	ons 3	
PLSC 521	3 Semi	nar in American Political Behavi	or 3	
PLSC 525	3 Politic	cs of Race and Ethnicity	3	
PLSC 550	03 Comp	parative Political Analysis	3	
PLSC 580	3 Semir	nar in International Politics	3	
PLSC 583	3 Intern	ational Political Economy	3	

The Associate Dean for Academic Affairs of the School of Law may approve new or alternative courses proposed to satisfy the requirements of the program for J.D. credit.

Students admitted to the dual degree program may commence their studies in either the law school or the M.A. program but must complete first year course requirements before taking courses in the other degree program. If they do not maintain the academic or ethical standards of either degree program, students may be terminated from the dual degree program. Students in good standing in one degree program but not in the other may be allowed to continue in the other program in which they have good standing and must meet the degree requirements of that program. If for any reason a student admitted to the dual degree program does not complete the M.A. degree, he or she cannot count nine hours of M.A. courses toward the J.D. degree. Likewise, M.A. students may not be able to count certain law courses if they decide to discontinue their studies in the law school. The J.D. will be awarded upon completion of all degree requirements; the M.A. will be awarded upon completion of the comprehensive examination and all required coursework, as well as the successful defense of a master's thesis, if applicable.

**Mandatory Comprehensive Exam:** All students will be required to take a written comprehensive examination covering their M.A. program or a sixhour thesis. The comprehensive exam will be graded by at least a three-person faculty committee selected by the M.A. Program Director. Students pursuing the thesis option are not required to take a written examination. Successful defense of their thesis satisfies this requirement.

In addition to the successful completion of all course requirements and a passing grade on the written comprehensive examination (if taken), each student must present a minimum cumulative grade-point average of 3.00.

**Thesis Option:** Students pursuing the thesis option should consult the graduate coordinator of the political science department. The thesis committee must be composed of faculty members from both the School of Law and the Department of Political Science. Thesis credit is 6 hours.

**Internship Option:** Students may pursue an internship. Internship credit is variable and depends on the number of hours worked. Students in this

option must consult with their J.D. and M.A. advisers. An internship work plan and expected academic work products will be developed.

For students interested in obtaining both the M.B.A. and J.D. (law) degrees, the M.B.A./J.D. dual degree program is available. This program allows the student to receive both the M.B.A. degree and the J.D. degree. The program requires separate application and admission to both the School of Law and the Graduate School of Business and the M.B.A. degree program. Interested students should obtain bulletins and applications from both the School of Law and the Graduate School of Business. If the student is accepted into both programs, a maximum of twelve hours of approved law core courses may be used as duplicate credit toward the M.B.A. degree. These 12 hours of law core courses shall be applied to the 12 hours of career track courses within the M.B.A. degree plan. Likewise, a maximum of 12 hours of approved M.B.A. core courses may be used as duplicate credit toward the J.D. degree, thus reducing the total time necessary for the completion of both degrees.

## J.D./M.P.A. Program

The University of Arkansas department of political science, the Graduate School, and the School of Law cooperate in offering a dual-degree program that allows students to pursue the Master of Public Administration (M.P.A.) and J.D. degrees concurrently. Students must be admitted to the M.P.A. program, the School of Law, and the dual-degree program. If a student seeks to enter the dual-degree program after enrolling in either the School of Law or the M.P.A. program, he or she must obtain admission to the other degree program and the dual program during the first year of study.

The School of Law accepts a maximum of nine hours of M.P.A. courses to satisfy requirements for the J.D. degree. To qualify for J.D. credit, the M.P.A. courses must come from a set of core courses and must be approved by the School of Law. For purposes of the M.P.A. degree, 15 hours of elective courses may be taken in the School of Law, subject to approval by the director of the M.P.A. program. Students must earn a grade of B or higher in any M.P.A. courses offered for credit toward the J.D. degree.

Students admitted to the dual-degree program may commence studies in either the School of Law or the M.P.A. program but must complete first-year course requirements before taking courses in the other degree program. If they do not maintain the academic or ethical standards of either degree program, students may be terminated from the dual-degree program.

Students in good standing in one degree program but not the other may be allowed to continue in the program in which they have good standing.

## J.D./M.S.W. Program

The Juris Doctor/Master of Social Work dual degree is awarded after completion of a four-year integrated course of study. This eliminates approximately one year of study, while meeting all accreditation requirements of the American Bar Association and Council on Social Work Education.

Upon completion of the dual degree, students have earned a total of 135 credit hours (as opposed to 153 credit hours if the degrees are earned separately). A total of 12 hours credit earned in the M.S.W. program count toward completion of the J.D. degree. A total of 6 hours credit earned in the J.D. program count toward completion of the M.S.W. degree. In order to receive dual credit, minimum grade standards for each program must be met.

Students who do not maintain the academic or ethical standards of either degree program may be terminated from the dual degree program. Students in good standing in one degree program but not the other may be allowed to continue in the program in which they have good standing and must meet the degree requirements of that program. If for any reason a student admitted to the dual degree program does not complete the M.S.W. degree, the student cannot count the 12 hours of M.S.W. courses toward the J.D. degree. If for any reason a student admitted to the dual degree program does not complete the J.D. degree, the elective policy for the School of Social Work applies.

To be eligible for admission to the J.D./M.S.W. Dual Degree Program, students must apply separately and be admitted to the master's program at the School of Social Work, to the juris doctor program at the School of Law, and to the joint program. As such, applicants must meet all of the requirements for admission to each program. Upon application to the J.D./M.S.W. dual degree, the applicant shall provide a statement of intent for admission that includes a brief explanation of the reasons for pursuing this dual degree program as well as goals upon completion of the program. Each degree will be conferred when the student has met all the requirements of that degree.

Should a student enter one program and later become aware of the availability of the joint program, the student must be admitted to both programs and to the joint program during his or her first year of class work in the program of original enrollment.

#### J.D. Courses

The first year at the School of Law consists of a rigorous course of study that you and all your classmates will follow. Starting at new student orientation and continuing throughout your first year, you will begin to learn, write, and think about the law.

The first-year courses are as follows:

### **Required First-Year Courses**

LAWW 4104	Civil Procedure	4
LAWW 4024	Contracts	4
LAWW 4074	Criminal Law	4
LAWW 4013	Legal Research & Writing I	3
LAWW 4113	Legal Research & Writing II	3
LAWW 4054	Property	4
LAWW 4144	Torts	4
LAWW 5114	Constitutional Law	4

### Required Upper-Level Courses

LAWW 5013 Professional Responsibility 3

In addition, before graduation, each student is required to complete:

- a course for at least two credit hours that has been certified by the law faculty as an Upper Level Writing Course;
- a minimum of six credit hours of experiential learning courses as designated from time to time by the Dean; and
- a non-credit training session based on the Arkansas Mandatory Child Maltreatment Reporter law.

#### **Electives**

Most of the curriculum in the second and third year is composed of electives. This elective system allows students to choose courses that

interest them and that will be useful in the types of careers they choose. Students are required to consult a faculty adviser before registering for upper-level courses.

Brief descriptions of the courses generally offered at the School of Law are set out below. Credit hours occasionally vary when a course is offered during the summer session.

The curriculum at any good law school is always in the process of being studied and revised. Experimentation in the educational program is necessary to meet the needs of the future. The following pages describe recently offered elective courses at the University of Arkansas School of Law. For the most accurate list of course offerings, please visit law.uark.edu.

#### **Elective Courses**

LAWW 400V	Entertainment Law	1-6
LAWW 4173	Criminal Procedure: Investigations	3
LAWW 4294	Business Organizations	4
LAWW 4442	Law & Accounting	2
LAWW 500V	Special Topics	1-18
LAWW 5013	Professional Responsibility	3
LAWW 502V	Remedies	3-4
LAWW 5073	Family Law	3
LAWW 5083	First Amendment	3
LAWW 510V	Law: Study Abroad	1-6
LAWW 5133	Real Estate Transactions	3
LAWW 5163	Administrative Law	3
LAWW 5213	Business Lawyering Skills	3
LAWW 5313	Payment Systems	3
LAWW 550V	Wills, Trusts, and Estates	1-4
LAWW 5513	Labor Law	3
LAWW 599V	Debtor-Creditor Relations	3-4
LAWW 602V	Independent Legal Research	1-3
LAWW 603V	Federal Courts	1-3
LAWW 6093	Evidence	3
LAWW 611V	Interschool Competition Team	1-2
LAWW 6133	Antitrust Law	3
LAWW 6143	Oil and Gas	3
LAWW 614V	Board of Advocates Credit	1-4
LAWW 615V	Elder Law	1-2
LAWW 616V	Law Review Credit	1-4
LAWW 618V	Journal of Food Law & Policy Credit	1-5
LAWW 6192	Workers' Compensation	2
LAWW 6193	Workplace Legislation	3
LAWW 6203	Trial Advocacy	3
LAWW 621V	Products Liability	2-3
LAWW 6233	Federal Income Tax of Individuals	3
LAWW 6253	Federal Income Taxation of Business Entities	3
LAWW 6262	Estate Planning	2
LAWW 633V	Intellectual Property	2-3
LAWW 6343	Conflict Resolution	3
LAWW 6364	Legal Clinic: Immigration	4
LAWW 6374	Legal Clinic: Bankruptcy	4

LAWW 6393	Legal Clinic: Nonprofit	3
LAWW 6403	Land Use	3
LAWW 648V	Special Topics (Skills)	1-3
LAWW 6513	Immigration Law and Policy	3
LAWW 6523	Employment Law	3
LAWW 654V	Public Interest Externship	1-3
LAWW 661V	Bankruptcy	2-3
LAWW 6633	Criminal Procedure: Adjudication	3
LAWW 671V	Judicial Externship	1-3
LAWW 6822	Patent Law	2
LAWW 6913	Environmental Law	3
LAWW 6924	Legal Clinic: Civil Litigation and Advocacy Clinic	4
LAWW 6943	Public International Law	3
LAWW 697V	Legal Clinic: Advanced Bankruptcy	2-3
LAWW 706V	Sports Law	2-3
LAWW 7073	Mediation in Practice	3
LAWW 7243	Health Law	3
LAWW 7612	Advanced Consumer Bankruptcy	2
LAWW 7662	American Indian Law	2
LAWW 770V	Advanced Writing in Agricultural and Food Law	1-4
LAWW 771V	Independent Research in Agricultural and Food Law	1-2
LAWW 796V	Agriculture and the Environment	1-3
LAWW 7773	Water Law	3
LAWW 778V	Agricultural Labor Law	1-2
LAWW 786V	Food Law and Policy	1-3
LAWW 406V	Upper Level Writing	1-3
LAWW 445V	Mastering Legal Analysis	1-2
LAWW 4233	Upper Level Writing: Crime and the Supreme Court	t 3
LAWW 4182	Upper Level Writing - Business Drafting	2
LAWW 5041	Oil and Gas Title Examination	1
LAWW 5053	Energy Law	3
LAWW 5122	ABOTA Trial Practice Lecture Series	2
LAWW 5191	Deposition Practice	1
LAWW 5252	International Commercial Arbitration	2
LAWW 527V	Law and Economics	2-3
LAWW 5293	Cyber Crime	3
LAWW 567V	Nonprofit Organizations	2-3
LAWW 5303	International and Domestic Sales and Leasing	3
LAWW 536V	Securities Regulation	3
LAWW 5382	Employment Discrimination	2
LAWW 5391	Effective Corporate Compliance	1
LAWW 5451	Environmental Torts	1
LAWW 547V	State and Local Government	2-3
LAWW 5600	Law Research Assistant	0
LAWW 413V	ULW: Gender-Based Violence & Human Rights Policies & Procedures	2
LAWW 4212	Upper Level Writing: Policing Law & Policy	2
LAWW 629V	Public Corporations	2
LAWW 631V	Interschool Competition Team	1-2
LAWW 6323	Poverty Law: Theory and Practice	3
LAWW 660V	Government Externship	1-3

LAWW 673V	Criminal Defense Externship	1-3
LAWW 683V	Criminal Prosecution Externship	1-3
LAWW 686V	Corporate Counsel Externships	1-4
LAWW 714V	The Right to Food	1-3
LAWW 676V	Capstone Externship	1-12
LAWW 794V	Business, Human Rights, & Corporate Social Responsibility	1-3
LAWW 6413	Legal Clinic: Advanced Criminal Practice	3
LAWW 5643	International Criminal Law	3
LAWW 5692	Rule of Law Colloquium	2
LAWW 5701	Baseball and the Law	1
LAWW 5881	Arkansas Landlord Tenant Law	1
LAWW 607V	Conflict of Laws	2-3
LAWW 6173	Introduction to Intellectual Property Law	3
LAWW 635V	Arkansas Law Notes Credit	1-4
LAWW 6424	Legal Clinic: Criminal Practice Clinic	4
LAWW 646V	Student Coordinating Attorney	1-3
LAWW 6562	Legal Clinic: Advanced Immigration	2
LAWW 6702	Copyright Law	2
LAWW 6843	Legal Clinic: Advanced Civil Litigation and Advocacy Clinic	3
LAWW 6873	Legal Clinic: Advanced Nonprofit Clinic	3
LAWW 5622	Essential Legal Research	2
LAWW 5662	Mergers and Acquisitions	2
LAWW 6553	Arbitration Skills	3
LAWW 5031	Basic Title Examination	1
LAWW 741V	Food, Farming and Sustainability	1-3

# LL.M. in Agricultural and Food Law

The LL.M. Program in Agricultural and Food Law at the University of Arkansas School of Law was the first of its kind when it was founded over 40 years ago. Today, it continues to lead the nation in this important area of law, connecting lawyers to our food system, from farm to plate.

We offer an expansive and fully integrated curriculum instructed by nationally recognized scholars and practitioners for full- and part-time students. Students attend on-campus or by distance. Our distance students have the opportunity to participate in live classes by videoconference, with recorded classes and online opportunities to provide flexible programming. Our LL.M. candidates are also supported by a network of almost 400 alumni who provide mentoring.

Along with providing an exceptional agricultural and food law curriculum designed specifically for LL.M. students, the University of Arkansas School of Law publishes the Journal of Food Law & Policy (https://law.uark.edu/academics/journals/journal-food-law-policy.php), is home to the nationally acclaimed Indigenous Food and Agriculture Initiative, (https://indigenousfoodandag.com) and provides outreach opportunities such as the Food Recovery Project (https://law.uark.edu/service-outreach/food-recovery-project/) for its students.

#### Introduction to Agricultural and Food Law

Agricultural and food law is the study of the laws and policies that apply to our food system, from the farm to the consumer, and beyond. There is nothing more basic to human existence, yet there are few areas of law that are more complex.

From unique policies designed to support farmers to efforts to control the environmental harms caused by farming, agricultural law includes aspects of property law, constitutional law, commercial law, tort law, administrative law, employment law, and environmental law, all applied to the agricultural sector. Current issues include land tenure, social and environmental justice, and climate change solutions.

Beyond the farm, food law and policy continues the legal journey to include efforts to ensure a safe, healthy, and secure food system and to consider the ways in which we fall short in achieving those goals. It adds to our study with current topics such as food security and nutrition assistance, labeling law and commercial speech, food safety and liabilities for unsafe products, human rights and corporate responsibilities, international trade, intellectual property rights, right to food, and the regulation of new food products and technologies.

In the LL.M. Program, we combine agricultural and food law studies to provide a comprehensive analysis and a systemic look at our food system.

### **LL.M. Admission Requirements**

Applicants for admission to the LL.M. Program in Agricultural & Food Law must have earned a J.D. or LL.B. degree from a fully accredited school in the United States or a J.D., LL.B., or a substantially equivalent degree from a fully accredited school in another country. An applicant who has earned a J.D. or LL.B. degree from a law school in the United States that is not fully accredited but who has been admitted to a bar may be admitted in special circumstances upon the approval of the Graduate Legal Studies Committee.

All applicants should demonstrate academic excellence coupled with an interest in agricultural law or food law issues.

Factors considered by the Graduate Legal Studies Committee in evaluating an application for degree candidacy include:

- The candidate's past academic performance, particularly his or her performance in relevant legal studies;
- For applicants seeking an LL.M. in Agricultural and Food Law, any past background that would evidence a special interest in agricultural and food law; and
- Such other factors as the committee may deem relevant in determining the likelihood of success of the applicant in the graduate law program.

The following information is required for a complete application:

- · A completed application
- A Statement of Interest explaining the reasons why the applicant seeks to be admitted and demonstrating an interest in agricultural and food law;
- Official copies of transcripts from all post-secondary educational institutions attended (these must be sent from the school, directly to the LL.M. program);
- At least one letter of recommendation (two in the case of international students) from an individual who can attest to the applicant's academic and professional abilities (sent directly to the LL.M. Program).

The University of Arkansas School of Law's Graduate Admissions Committee will make all admissions decisions and may in some cases place conditions on a candidate's admission.

The Program has a rolling admissions policy, and applications will continue to be accepted until all candidate positions are filled.

Additional information and links to program application forms are found on the LL.M. Program's website at How to Apply (https://law.uark.edu/academics/llm-food-ag/apply/).

#### J.D. Electives in Agricultural and Food Law

J.D. students in good standing at the University of Arkansas School of Law have the opportunity to enroll in many of the specialized LL.M. courses as electives in the J.D. program, as space permits.

J.D. students who take LL.M. courses as J.D. electives and later apply for and are accepted into the LL.M. Program can request that up to 6 credits of the LL.M. courses taken be counted toward their LL.M. degree provided that:

- The LL.M. course was taken within three years prior to admission to the LL.M. Program;
- The student received a grade of 3.25 or higher in the LL.M. course; and,
- 3. The Graduate Legal Studies Committee grants permission in consultation with the Professor of the LL.M. course(s).

#### Nine-Hour J.D. Students

A School of Law student who is within nine hours of completing the total credit hours required to earn a J.D. degree may be admitted conditionally to the graduate law program. This allows students to begin their LL.M. coursework during their final semester of law school. Credits are assigned to either the J.D. program or the LL.M. program but cannot be counted

toward both degrees. In order to be admitted to the nine-hour program, a J.D. student must:

- Obtain advance approval from the Graduate Legal Studies Committee:
- Obtain advance approval from the director of the graduate law program for credits to be applied toward the LL.M. degree; and
- Earn a grade of 2.50 or higher in each course to be applied toward the LL.M. degree.

A student who satisfies these requirements and who is subsequently awarded a J.D. degree will be admitted to the graduate program as a degree candidate, unless the Graduate Legal Studies Committee determines that there are substantial grounds for revocation of the conditional admission.

#### **Non-Degree Program**

J.D. students, practicing attorneys, and graduate students in related disciplines may be allowed to enroll in some of our specialized LL.M. classes for non-degree credit. Students wishing to transfer credits to their degree program, must contact their Dean or Department head for approval prior to enrollment. Attorneys seeking Continuing Legal Education (CLE) credit should contact their jurisdiction for credit requirements and certification forms.

Interested students and attorneys should email Ilm@uark.edu for the current class schedule and information about enrollment.

### **Degree Requirements**

To receive an LL.M. degree in agricultural and food law, a candidate must:

- Complete a total of 24-credit hours pursuant to a course of study approved by the director of the LL.M. program including the following required courses: LAWW 786V Food Law and Policy, LAWW 796V Agriculture and the Environment, LAWW 7312 Agricultural Perspectives;
- Maintain a cumulative grade-point average of 2.50 or better (on a 4.00 scale); and
- 3. Conduct research in a specialized area of agricultural and food law and produce a written product for graded credit. The required written product can be of the sort that is published in a law journal or, with the permission of the director of the LL.M. program, a less traditional product that demonstrates rigorous legal analysis, significant academic content, and quality legal writing skills.

Candidates may enroll on a full or part-time basis but may not enroll for more than 15 hours in any semester without the approval of the director of the LL.M. program. All coursework, including completion of the research requirement must be completed within four years of matriculation unless an extension for good cause is granted by the Graduate Legal Studies Committee.

All candidates are subject to the LL.M. Program Honor Code.

#### **Dual Degree Program**

The School of Law cooperates with the Department of Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness in the Dale Bumpers College of Agricultural, Food and Life Sciences to offer a dual-degree program leading to the LL.M. in agricultural and food law and Master of Science in agricultural economics degrees.

Each program applies its own admission standards. For further information on the master's in agricultural economics, visit Dual M.S. LL.M. (https://agribusiness.uark.edu/academics/graduates/joint-llm-ms.php), Bumpers College Department of Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness.

## **Course of Study**

The LL.M. program offers more than 24 credits of specialized agricultural and food law courses each year. The director approves each student's course selection. Three of these specialized courses are required: LAWW 786V Food Law and Policy; LAWW 796V Agriculture and the Environment, and LAWW 7312 Agricultural Perspectives. A final research project, Advanced Writing in Agricultural and Food Law is also required.

Most students take 24 credits of these specialized courses to complete their degree. However, with the approval of the director, a student may substitute courses offered in the J.D. program (if not taken previously as a J.D. student) or courses offered for graduate credit elsewhere within the University of Arkansas provided that they are substantially related to agricultural or food law. LL.M. students may be allowed to earn up to six credits through alternative courses. An effort is made to accommodate each student's particular areas of interest, and the director works closely with each student to develop their preferred curriculum. Credit may not be granted for courses taken at other law schools.

## **Costs and Funding**

The LL.M. Program in Agricultural and Food Law is one of the most affordable LL.M. opportunities available.

For on-campus students, the university provides an online calculator for tuition and fees information at the Treasurer's website (http://treasurernet.uark.edu/Tuition.aspx?pagestate=Calculate). Distance students are given the in-state tuition rate regardless of their state of residency and also pay lower fees.

The Graduate School at the University of Arkansas and the School of Law provide for Graduate Assistantships to be awarded to a limited number of LL.M. candidates. These assistantships provide for a full tuition waiver plus a stipend of \$5,000 less withholding per semester in exchange for the candidate's work in a variety of legal and teaching capacities. Competition for the Graduate Assistantship positions is high, and the awards are primarily merit-based.

Graduate Assistantships awards are made by the Graduate Admissions Committee after a candidate has been admitted to the LL.M. Program.

#### LL.M. Courses

Each semester, the LL.M. Program offers an extensive curriculum of courses that have been developed specifically for the program. The courses that are offered each semester are tailored to student interest, with "selected topics" courses created each semester to address emerging issues and current trends. Experiential opportunities are provided through externships and practicums.

## **Certificate in Business Law**

The School of Law business law certificate is designed for those students wishing to focus on business or transactional law to prepare themselves for a business law practice or to enhance their career prospects in the business field in general. The program provides a strong framework in the fundamentals of business and transactional law and skills through coursework and related activities. The program will prepare qualified J.D. degree and post-J.D. candidates for a wide variety of business and

transactional law practices and, for non-law students, it will help provide a strong foundation for legal aspects of the business environment.

**Admission requirements:** The student must satisfy one of the following requirements:

- Be currently enrolled in the J.D. program at the School of Law or be admitted as a visiting J.D. student at the School of Law;
- 2. Hold a J.D. degree from an accredited law school;
- 3. Be enrolled in the LL.M. program at the School of Law; or
- 4. Be admitted by the Associate Dean or that dean's designee (here in after the "Associate Dean") as otherwise qualified to complete the certificate requirements successfully. The Associate Dean may limit the number of students eligible to pursue the certificate at any one time.

#### Course requirements:

The certificate program in Business Law requires 18 hours of coursework.

#### **Foundational Business Law Courses**

It is assumed that all students seeking the certificate will enter the program having already successfully completed, as part of their J.D. degree program or other qualifying studies, the following foundational business law courses (or equivalent):

LAWW 4024	Contracts
LAWW 4294	Business Organizations
LAWW 6233	Federal Income Tax of Individuals

#### **Required Course Categories**

In addition to completing all Foundational Business Law Courses, in order to be eligible for the Business Law Certificate a student must successfully complete at least 18 credit hours of business law coursework, including at least one course from each of the following three categories:

(ULW-approved three courses are Business Drafting, Contract Drafting, and Corporate Practice.)

#### **Business Drafting Courses:**

LAWW 406V	Upper Level Writing
LAWW 4182	Upper Level Writing - Business Drafting

#### **Experiential Learning Business Courses:**

LAWW 5213	Business Lawyering Skills
LAWW 686V	Corporate Counsel Externships
	_

#### Public Company Courses

Fubile Company Courses.		
LAWW 5662	Mergers and Acquisitions	
LAWW 629V	Public Corporations	
LAWW 536V	Securities Regulation	

#### **Business Electives**

The following courses will count toward the 18 credit hours of business law coursework needed to complete the Business Law Certificate:

LAWW 6133	Antitrust Law	3
LAWW 6253	Federal Income Taxation of Business Entities	3
LAWW 5391	Effective Corporate Compliance	1
LAWW 6393	Legal Clinic: Nonprofit	3
LAWW 5543	International Business Transactions	3
LAWW 567V	Nonprofit Organizations	2-3
LAWW 500V	Special Topics	1-18

Special Topics LAWW 500V Corporate Counsel Colloquium, Corporate Finance, and Representing Startups. Any courses lited in the Experiential Business, Business Drafting, or Public Company Course categories listed above.

#### **Extracurricular Course of Study**

Students must attend at least 250 minutes of extracurricular programming sponsored by the business law society or approved in advance by the Associate Dean.

#### Substitutions

The Associate Dean may designate a Special Topics or other course as a qualifying Business Elective, and in rare cases, with substantial justification, may allow substitution in the Experiential Business, Business Drafting, or Public Company course categories listed above.

#### Other requirements:

#### J.D. candidates

Our J.D. students must declare their intention to complete the program before the final semester of their J.D. studies by notifying the Associate Dean. The student must have a cumulative law school GPA of at least 2.75 and a GPA of 3.0 or above in certificate courses at the time he or she declares. In order to receive the certificate upon graduation, the student must successfully complete the required courses, earn a GPA of at least 3.2 in certificate courses, and have a cumulative GPA of 2.75 or above.

#### J.D. visitors

Those currently earning a J.D. at another ABA accredited law school but visiting here may earn the business law certificate. They must apply to the Associate Dean before their final semester of J.D. studies. These students can satisfy certificate course credits with courses taken at their own law school, but must take at least 12 credits in certificate courses here, and they must complete the corporate counsel externship program or other approved experiential capstone course here.

A visiting J.D. student must have a cumulative law school GPA of at least 2.75 and a GPA of 3.0 or above in certificate courses at the time he or she applies for the certificate program. In order to receive the certificate upon graduation, the student must successfully complete the required courses and earn a GPA of 3.2 or above in certificate courses, and have a cumulative GPA of 2.75 or above.

#### Post-J.D. candidates

Those who have already earned a J.D. degree from an accredited law school in the United States may also earn a certificate. They must apply to the Associate Dean before commencing the program.

For the purposes of this program, post-J.D. candidates can determine their GPA within the program based in part on courses completed elsewhere. All post-J.D. candidates must fulfill the requirements listed in §5-1505 of the Faculty Policies Manual, at least 12 credits of which must be taken here, and they must complete the corporate counsel externship program or other approved experiential capstone course here.

Post-J.D. candidates must have a cumulative GPA of at least 3.0 from the school that conferred their law degree. To complete the program, they must earn a GPA of 3.2 or above in certificate courses.

#### LL.M. candidates

Our LL.M. candidates must notify the Associate Dean one month before enrollment in the LL.M. program of their intention to complete the program and must have the approval of the director of the LL.M. program.

For the purposes of this program, LL.M. candidates can determine their GPA within the program based in part on courses completed elsewhere. LL.M. candidates must satisfy all the required courses, at least 12 credits of which must be taken here, and must take the corporate counsel externship or other approved experiential capstone course here.

To declare, an LL.M. candidate must have a cumulative GPA of at least 3.0 from the school that conferred their law degree. To complete the program, they must earn a GPA of at least 3.2 in certificate courses and have a cumulative GPA of 2.75 or above.

#### General Requirements (Non-J.D./Non-LL.M. Candidates)

Post-baccalaureate students who are not enrolled as J.D. or LL.M. students at the law school (and do not have a J.D. degree) may also earn a certificate. They must apply to the Associate Dean before commencing the program. If they have taken at least 12 credits of the required certificate courses at another ABA-accredited law school, their GPA in those courses must be at least 3.0 to apply. If they have not, their undergraduate cumulative GPA must be at least 3.5. For the purposes of this program, these students can determine their GPA within the program based in part on courses completed elsewhere.

To earn the certificate, these students must complete all the required courses, at least 12 credits of which must be taken here, and they must complete the approved experiential capstone course here. To complete the program, they must also earn a GPA of 3.2 or above in certificate courses.

#### **Learning Objectives**

Students who successfully complete the requirements for the Business Law Certificate will:

- Demonstrate proficiency in explaining and analyzing the legal and regulatory implications of common business matters
- Be able to draft documents relevant to typical business formations and basic transactions and
- Demonstrate an understanding of the role of counsel to businesses, business owners, or business management, as well as an appreciation of the ethical implications of representing each discrete group.

## **Certificate in Criminal Law**

The Law School offers a criminal law certificate to those students wishing to focus on criminal law during law school and prepare themselves for the practice of criminal law or policy. The program is available to J.D. candidates, LL.M. candidates, as well as other post-baccalaureate students as described below. The program requires students to develop litigation skills through at least one criminal law clinic (or other experiential capstone course approved as a substitute by the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs or that dean's designee), as well as skills courses while also providing a strong framework in the fundamentals of criminal law and procedure through coursework.

Many law schools and employers continue to seek ways to better prepare students for the practice of law immediately upon graduation, and this certificate seeks to make its graduates far more prepared to step into criminal law practice, whether at public agencies such as prosecution or

public defender offices, or at firms or even in solo practice. The program seeks, through minimum requirements, to ensure qualified candidates graduate ready for a practice in criminal law. For non-law students, it will help provide a strong foundation for policy work or other criminal justice fields.

**Admission requirements:** The student must satisfy one of the following requirements:

- 1. Be currently enrolled in the J.D. program at the School of Law or be admitted as a visiting J.D. student at the School of Law.
- 2. Hold a J.D. degree from an accredited law school.
- 3. Be enrolled in the LL.M. program at the U of A School of Law.
- Be admitted by the associate dean for academic affairs or that dean's designee as otherwise qualified to complete the certificate requirements successfully.

The associate dean for academic affairs, or designee, may limit the number of students eligible to pursue the certificate at any one time.

#### Course Requirements for the Certificate in Criminal Law

Students seeking the certificate generally will enter the program having already successfully completed as part of their J.D. degree program or other qualifying studies, the following basic law courses (or equivalents): LAWW 4074 Criminal Law (Irregular); LAWW 4173 Criminal Procedure I (Irregular); LAWW 6093 Basic Evidence (Irregular); and LAWW 5013 Professional Responsibility (Irregular). Students who have not already completed one or more of these courses before entering the program may, however, do so during the time they are also pursuing the certificate.

Required Courses		
LAWW 6424	Legal Clinic: Criminal Practice Clinic	
LAWW 6203	Trial Advocacy	

#### Electives 14

In addition to completing the pre-requisites and required courses, a student must successfully complete at least 18 credit hours of elective courses listed below. Please note, only 3 credits from the supplemental electives will count toward the certificate and only one externship may count towards the 18 credit hours.

#### LAWW 5613 C/ LAWW 500V Special Topics Advanced Criminal Law Criminal Litigation Criminal Sentencing Crimmigation Federal Habeas Litigation Practice Federal Criminal Law Prisoners' Rights Seminar LAWW 5293 Cyber Crime LAWW 6633 Criminal Procedure: Adjudication LAWW 5583 WRONGFUL CONVICTIONS LAWW 5643 International Criminal Law LAWW 648V Special Topics (Skills)

LAWW 406V Upper Level Writing

LAWW 673V Criminal Defense Externship

Crime and The Supreme Court

Policing Law & Policy

	LAWW 683V	Criminal Prosecution Externship	
	LAWW 6413	Legal Clinic: Advanced Criminal Practice	
	Supplemental Electives (students may enroll in a max of 1 toward certificate credit) 0-3		
	LAWW 648V	Special Topics (Skills) (Child Welfare)	
	LAWW 5073	Family Law	
	LAWW 548V	Privacy Law	
	LAWW 6103	Jurisprudence	
	LAWW 6323	Poverty Law: Theory and Practice	
Т	otal Hours		21

#### Other requirements:

**J.D. Candidates**: Our J.D. students must declare their intention to complete the program in the spring of their 2L year by notifying the Associate Dean.

The student must have a cumulative law school GPA of at least 2.75 and a GPA of 3.0 or above in certificate courses at the time the student declares. In order to receive the certificate upon graduation, the student must fulfill the requirements in §5-1408 in the Faculty Policies Manual, earn a GPA of 3.2 or above in certificate courses (including Criminal Certificate prerequisites), a cumulative GPA of at least 2.75, and a B+ or above in the criminal practice clinic, or other approved experiential capstone course (if graded).

**J.D. Visitors:** Those currently earning a J.D. at another ABA-accredited law school but visiting here may earn the criminal law certificate. They must apply to the Associate Dean by spring of their 2L year. These students can satisfy certificate course credits with courses taken at their own law school, but must take at least 12 credits in certificate courses here. Also, they must complete the criminal clinic program or other approved experiential capstone course here.

The student must have a cumulative law school GPA of at least 2.75 and a GPA of 3.0 or above in certificate courses at the time the student applies. In order to receive the certificate upon graduation, the student must fulfill the requirements in §5-1408 in the Faculty Policies Manual, earn a GPA of at least 3.2 in certificate courses (including Criminal Certificate prerequisites), and a B+ or above in the criminal practice clinic or other approved experiential capstone course (if graded).

**Post-J.D. Candidates:** Those who have already earned a J.D. degree from an accredited law school in the United States may also earn a certificate. They must apply to the Associate Dean before commencing the program.

For the purposes of this program, post-J.D. candidates can determine their GPA within the program based in part on courses completed elsewhere. All post-J.D. candidates must fulfill the requirements in §5-1408 in the Faculty Policies Manual, at least 12 credits of which must be taken here, and they must complete or have completed the criminal clinic program or other approved experiential capstone course.

Post-J.D. candidates must have at least a cumulative GPA of 3.0 from the school that conferred their law degree. To complete the program, they must earn a GPA of 3.2 or above in certificate courses (including Criminal Certificate prerequisites) and a B+ or above in the criminal practice clinic or other approved experiential capstone course (if graded).

**LL.M. Candidates:** Our LL.M. candidates must notify the Associate Dean no later than one month before enrollment in the LL.M. program of their

intention to complete the program and must have the approval of the director of the LL.M. program.

For the purposes of this program, LL.M. candidates can determine their GPA within the program based in part on courses completed elsewhere. LL.M. candidates must satisfy all the requirements in §5-1408 in the Faculty Policies Manual, at least 12 credits of which must be taken here, and must take the criminal practice clinic or other approved experiential capstone course here.

To declare, an LL.M. candidate must have at least a cumulative GPA of 3.0 from the school that conferred their law degree. To complete the program, they must earn a GPA of 3.2 in certificate courses (including Criminal Certificate prerequisites), a cumulative GPA of at least 2.75, and a B+ or above in the criminal practice clinic or other approved experiential capstone course (if graded).

General Requirements (Non-J.D. and Non-LL.M. Candidates): Post-baccalaureate students who are not enrolled as J.D. or LL.M. students at the law school (and do not have a J.D. degree) may also earn a certificate. They must apply to the Associate Dean before commencing the program. If they have taken at least 12 credits of the required certificate courses listed in §5-1408 in the Faculty Policies Manual at another ABA accredited law school, their GPA in those courses must be at least 3.0 to apply. If they have not, their undergraduate cumulative GPA must be at least 3.5. For the purposes of this program, these students can determine their GPA within the program based in part on courses completed elsewhere.

To earn the certificate, these students must complete all the coursework as set forth in §5-1408 in the Faculty Policies Manual, at least 12 credits of which must be taken here, and they must complete the approved experiential capstone course here. To complete the program, they must also earn a GPA of at least 3.2 in certificate courses (including Criminal Certificate prerequisites) and a B+ or above in the approved experiential capstone course (if graded).

Certificate; Substitute Courses; Enrollment Limit: Each student completing the requirements will receive a certificate. If appropriate, the Associate Dean may approve any new electives proposed to satisfy the elective requirements of the program. The Associate Dean may limit the number of students eligible to pursue the certificate at any one time.

## **Costs and Financial Aid**

The University of Arkansas School of Law's tuition and financial aid packages are designed to help make the cost of pursuing a law school education reasonable regardless of a student's financial circumstances.

#### Fee and Cost Estimates

Educational expenses will vary according to a student's course of study, personal needs, and place of residence. Student progress or general course of action in pursuit of higher education at the University of Arkansas is determined during the application and acceptance process. At the conclusion of the application and acceptance process, the progress or general course of action for each student will be assigned a category, called a career.

The career categories at the University of Arkansas — in order of magnitude by the cost of tuition per credit hour — are Agricultural & Food Law, Law, Graduate, and Undergraduate. Students concurrently enrolled in multiple careers will be assigned one primary career for all tuition billing purposes, called a billing career, based on the order of magnitude listed above. The Office of the Registrar is responsible for assigning the appropriate billing career. Base tuition is assessed per credit hour of enrollment unless otherwise specified. Students enrolled in Fayetteville campus courses, off-campus courses offered at the Rogers location, the online degree program of Agricultural & Food Law LL.M., or any combination of these concurrently with online classes are charged base tuition per billing career and program plus non-resident tuition as determined by the student's residency status for tuition billing purposes. All fees, charges, and costs quoted in this catalog are subject to change without notice. A survey tool for tuition and fee estimation is available at the Treasurer's website (http://treasurer.uark.edu/Tuition.asp? pagestate=Estimate).

Financial obligations to the University of Arkansas must be satisfied by the established deadlines. E-check (electronic check) and credit/debit payments are made online on UAConnect (https://uaconnect.uark.edu/). If you pay with a debit or credit card, there is a convenience fee charged of 1.8 percent.

Acceptance of payment for fees does not imply academic acceptance to the university.

## Estimated Necessary Expenses for an Academic Year

Estimates of necessary expenses for the 2021-22 academic year for a typical law student taking 30 credit hours at the University of Arkansas:

Fee	Resident Law Student	Non-resident Law Student	International Law Student
Tuition*	\$14,928.00	\$35,956.00	\$35,956.00
University Fees**	\$2,206.00	\$2,206.00	\$2,206.00
Books	\$1,100.00	\$1,100.00	\$1,100.00
Personal Expenses	\$2,898.00	\$2,898.00	\$2,898.00
Transportation	\$2,238.00	\$2,238.00	\$2,238.00
Room***	\$7,440.00	\$7,440.00	\$7,440.00
Board***	\$4,198.00	\$4,198.00	\$4,198.00
TOTAL****	\$35,312.00	\$56,340.00	\$56,340.00

- \* The standard law in-state tuition rate is \$497.60 per credit hour. Students enrolled in Agricultural and Food Law are charged \$497.60 per credit hour in-state tuition.
- \*\* University fees per year include the following student-initiated and student-approved fees:
  - Student Activity fee calculated at \$2.64/credit hour \$79.20
  - Student Health fee, calculated at \$7.47/credit hour \$224.10
  - Media fee, calculated at \$0.90/credit hour \$27.00
  - Transit fee, calculated at \$3.15/credit hour \$94.50
  - Network Infrastructure and Data Systems fee at \$11.10/credit hour \$333.00
  - Facilities Fee, calculated at \$20.35/credit hour \$610.50
  - Library Fee, calculated at \$3.41/credit hour \$102.30
  - Law Fee, calculated at \$24.50/credit hour \$735.00
- \*\*\* Weighted average expenses for living in a residence hall, double occupancy, with an unlimited meal plan. Actual room and board fees vary.
- \*\*\*\* Budget amounts were adjusted for rounding to accommodate UAConnect budgetary rules.

When paying tuition, room and board, and associated fees, anticipated financial aid for a current semester may be deducted when it is listed as anticipated aid on the student's account. Students receiving financial aid are strongly encouraged to have sufficient personal funds available to purchase books and to meet necessary expenses for at least one month at the start of school as some aid funds may not be available for disbursement

#### **Tuition Fees**

Students classified as "in-state" for fee payment purposes are assessed tuition. Students classified as "out-of-state" for fee payment purposes are assessed additional non-resident tuition.

Official policies of the University of Arkansas Board of Trustees provide the basis for classifying students as either "in-state" or "out-of-state" for purposes of paying student fees. Board policies relating to residency status for fee payment purposes are included at the end of this chapter of the catalog. Out-of-state students who question their residency classification are encouraged to contact the Registrar's Office, 146 Silas H. Hunt Hall, for more information about residency classification review procedures.

#### **Academic Year**

Law students are assessed tuition of \$497.60 per credit hour. Students with out-of-state residency status are assessed tuition of \$1,198.50 per credit hour.

Law students enrolled in Agricultural and Food Law are charged tuition of \$497.60 per credit hour in-state and \$1,198.50 per credit hour for out-of-state students.

#### **Distance Education Fees**

Courses and exams taken online through the university's Global Campus or via an extension service incur an additional fee:

Program/Service	Specific Fees
Extension Fee	\$30.00
Global Campus Fee	\$30.00
Premium Online Proctored Exam "Take It Now" Fee	\$8.75
Premium Online Proctored Exam "Take It Soon" Fee	\$5.00

Proctoring Fee – Self-Paced Online Correspondence \$8.00 Courses

Online Proctoring Fee for Credit by Exam \$25.00

#### LL.M. Costs

Find out about costs of the Master of Laws program at the LL.M. page (https://law.uark.edu/academics/llm-food-ag/llm-costs.php).

#### **Graduation Fee**

The Enrollment Services Graduation Fee for J.D. and LL.M. degrees is \$65.

### Housing

(Rates are subject to change)

Housing for married students, students with family status, nontraditional, graduate, and law students is limited and requires early application.

Summer rates for room and board in university residence halls during summer sessions are available through the Housing Office. Charges start on the requested move-in day and run through the date of check-out. Contact University Housing for information on meal plans 479-575-3951.

Students eligible to live off-campus may contact local real estate offices for rental information or check offcampushousing.uark.edu.

### **Dining**

Specific questions concerning on-campus meal plans may be directed to University Housing 479-575-3951 or visit the Dining on Campus website.

## Fee Adjustments

A currently enrolled student who has registered during the advance registration period should make any necessary or desired schedule adjustments such as adding or dropping courses or changing course sections during the schedule-adjustment period of the same semester. Students who drop classes will have their fees adjusted according to Fayetteville Policies and Procedures 330.0 – Tuition and Fee Adjustment Policy for Dropping Classes (https://vcfa.uark.edu/policies/fayetteville/avcf/3300.php). Drops and withdrawals are two different functions. In a drop process, the student remains enrolled. The result of the withdrawal process is that the student is no longer enrolled for the term. Fee adjustment deadlines for an official withdrawal are noted in Fayetteville Policies and Procedures 518.0 – Tuition and Fee Adjustment Policy for Official Withdrawal (https://vcfa.uark.edu/policies/fayetteville/avcf/5180.php).

#### **Student Invoices**

Students who pre-register for a semester will be invoiced approximately six weeks prior to the first day of classes. The Treasurer's Office will send out an email notification when the student invoices are available on UAConnect. Students should log into UAConnect (http://uaconnect.uark.edu), navigate to the Treasurer's Office tile, and click the 'Student Invoice' link.

#### **Late Fees**

Students are required to pay all charges by the posted payment deadline. Students who fail to pay all charges or who fail to execute an installment payment plan by the deadline may be assessed a late payment fee equal to the outstanding balance, not to exceed \$75.00.

Any student with an outstanding balance, to include registration-related fees and/or housing charges, by the last payment deadline will be assessed an additional late payment fee equal to the outstanding balance, not to exceed \$75.00.

The late fee will not be waived because an invoice was not received.

#### **Disbursement of Refunds**

Disbursement of refunds due to overpayments by scholarships, loans, and/or grants will begin approximately five days prior to the start of classes.

The University of Arkansas has partnered with BankMobile to deliver financial aid and other school refunds to the University of Arkansas students. For more information visit the BankMobile page (http://bankmobiledisbursements.com/refundchoicessso/).

#### **Addresses**

Students may create a check address, which will be used specifically for overpayment checks. This address may be created in addition to the local and permanent addresses. If a check address is not created, the default address will be the permanent address. The student may change their address in the Student Center section of UAConnect (https://uaconnect.uark.edu/).

## **Students Called into Active Military Service**

When a student or student's spouse is activated for full-time military service and is required to cease attending the University of Arkansas without completing and receiving a grade in one or more courses, they shall receive compensation for the resulting monetary loss as provided by Fayetteville Policy 504.2. The student must cease attendance because 1) the student is activated or deployed by the military or 2) the student's spouse is activated or deployed by the military and the student or student's spouse has dependent children residing in the household.

To be eligible for the compensation, the student must provide, prior to activation or deployment for military service, an original or official copy of the military activation or deployment orders to the university's Veterans Resource and Information Center. A student whose spouse is a service member shall provide proof of registration with the Defense Enrollment Eligibility Reporting System (DEERS) of the Department of the Defense that establishes that dependent children reside in the household of the student and the service member.

Upon leaving the University of Arkansas because of active duty or deployment, the student may choose one of three compensatory options. The student may officially withdraw and receive full adjustment and refund of tuition and non-consumable fees for the term involved; the student can remain enrolled and arrange for a mark of "Incomplete" for each class and finish the courses 12 months after deactivation; or the student may receive free tuition and fees for one semester after deactivation. For more detailed information, read Fayetteville Policy 504.2 (http://vcfa.uark.edu/policies/fayetteville/avcf/5042.php).

Law\_2022-23

# Academic Policies Good Academic Standing

While enrolled in the School of Law and working toward a J.D. degree, a student must maintain a cumulative grade-point average (GPA) of 2.00 or higher to remain in good academic standing. Rules on academic dismissal and readmission are as follows:

- At the end of the first semester of the first year, any student who has a cumulative GPA of 1.49 or lower will be permanently dismissed from the School of Law for academic reasons.
- At the end of the first year and any semester thereafter, any student who has a cumulative GPA of 1.79 or lower will be permanently dismissed from the School of Law for academic reasons.
- 3. At the end of the first year and any semester thereafter, any student who has a cumulative GPA of 1.80 to 1.99 will be dismissed from the School of Law for academic reasons. Any such student shall be allowed to petition for readmission, but the student may be readmitted only once. If a student is readmitted, he/she will have to raise his/her cumulative GPA to 2.00 or higher during the semester of readmission or that student will be permanently dismissed from the School of Law for academic reasons.
- 4. A student who is ineligible to continue at the School of Law but who is eligible to petition for readmission shall be readmitted only upon a decision by the School of Law Petitions Committee. The student shall initiate a petition for readmission by preparing a written petition addressed to the Petitions Committee and filing it with the chair. The petition should describe the student's academic circumstances, present any facts of explanation and mitigation, and indicate how and why he/she expects to make sufficient improvement to achieve a cumulative GPA of 2.00 or higher. The student is entitled to make a personal appearance before the committee when it considers the petition in order to answer questions or to offer further argument on behalf of the petition. The committee shall readmit a student only if it determines that there were extraordinary circumstances that caused the academic deficiency and that there is a strong likelihood the student will successfully overcome his/her academic deficiency.
- 5. The committee's decision to readmit shall be final. The committee's decision not to readmit shall only be reviewed by the entire faculty upon a separate, written petition from the excluded student to the faculty, submitted to the Dean, seeking such review. The committee (or the full faculty on review of a decision not to readmit) may attach such conditions to its decision to readmit as it may deem in the best interests of the student and the School of Law under the circumstances involved. A majority vote of faculty in attendance, including the student representative to the faculty, will be necessary to readmit the petitioner upon review by the faculty. If a student's petition for readmission is denied, either by the committee or upon faculty review thereof, no further petition will be heard without leave of the law faculty and before the passing of at least one year.

## **Requirements for Degree**

The J.D. degree will be conferred upon a candidate who satisfies all university requirements and who satisfies all of the following law school requirements:

- The candidate must successfully complete all applicable law school course requirements.
- The candidate must earn at least 90 credits. At least 64 of the 90 credits must be in courses requiring attendance in regularly scheduled

- classroom sessions. Credit is given only for course work taken after matriculation as a law student.
- 3. At least 75 of the 90 credits required for graduation must be graded credits. Graded credits, for this purpose, include graded credits earned in courses at this law school, graded credits accepted as transfer credits from other ABA-approved law schools to the extent such credits would have been graded credits if earned in residence at this law school, and graded credits earned in ABA-approved study-abroad law programs to the extent the credits would qualify as graded credits if earned in residence at this law school. Ungraded credits include, but are not limited to, credits earned in other departments on campus, including such credits that are part of a dual-degree program, to the extent such credits are approved for law school credit.
- The candidate must earn a cumulative GPA of at least 2.00 (on a 4.00 scale) for all graded credits at the law school.
- 5. If the candidate is a transfer student, he or she must satisfy any special requirements that may apply to transfer students. A transfer student should consult the School of Law Associate Dean for Students about any such special requirements.
- 6. The candidate must satisfy all requirements for the degree within five calendar years from the time the candidate first matriculates either at this or at another law school from which credit has been transferred and applied toward the degree.
- 7. No student may complete the course of study for the J.D. degree earlier than 24 months after the student has commenced study at the School of Law or a law school from which the School of Law has accepted transfer credit.
- Subject to rules established by the School of Law faculty, students
  may be able to receive credit toward the J.D. degree for courses
  offered by colleges on the Fayetteville campus of the University of
  Arkansas other than the School of Law.

Application for graduation must be made to the registrar and fees paid during registration for the semester in which degree requirements will be completed and graduation effected. If a student fails to complete the degree, the application must be renewed and a renewal fee paid.

The course of study leading to the J.D. degree requires resident law study for three academic years. The curriculum is designed to occupy the full time of the student. In order to be considered a full-time student during the regular academic year, a student must be enrolled in a minimum of 12 credit hours. Students cannot enroll in more than 16 hours per semester without the permission of the School of Law Associate Dean for Students and, in no event, more than 18 credit hours per semester. Students cannot enroll in more than 6 credit hours in any summer session. In intersessions, except with the permission of the Dean, students cannot enroll in more than 1 credit hour.

# Transfer Credits Visiting Another Law School

Students enrolled in the University of Arkansas School of Law are generally required to complete all their course work in residence at this law school. It is our policy that no J.D. student may have visiting student status at another law school unless the student is in good standing at the UA School of Law and there are special, compelling, and unforeseen circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the student. The Associate Dean for Students has the authority to grant visiting status and must approve courses in advance, if visiting status is granted. All transfer credit rules apply to courses completed at other law schools.

No credit will be given for any course in which the student earns a grade lower than a C, or the equivalent of 2.00 on a 4.00 scale; no credit will be transferred for ungraded courses; credit transferred from another school will be reported on the student's transcript as "CR"; and transfer credits will not be calculated in the student's GPA.

The student must arrange for an official transcript to be sent to the Registrar at the School of Law at the conclusion of the semester in which the work is completed. Rules governing the number of hours students may take in any or all summer sessions at the UA School of Law apply to courses taken during summer sessions at other law schools.

## Visiting Status at the University of Arkansas School of Law

A student enrolled in another ABA-approved law school may request permission to enroll in UA School of Law courses as a visiting student. Submitting the request is a two-step process. First, the student must arrange for the registrar at his or her current institution to submit a letter of good standing and official transcript to the School of Law. Second, the student must submit a written request for visiting status to the Associate Dean for Students. The request should include the academic term(s) for proposed enrollment, the name of the course(s) desired, and reasons for requesting visiting status. If the Associate Dean for Students approves the request for visiting student status, the student will contact the UA School of Law Registrar for registration and tuition and fee information. The student must abide by all applicable School of Law regulations and standards regarding student conduct, attendance, examinations, work load, and the like. Visiting students are not eligible to receive a degree from UA School of Law.

## **Grading System**

For numerical evaluations, grades are assigned the following values:

Grade	Value
Grade	
A	4.00
A-	3.67
B+	3.33
В	3.00
B-	2.67
C+	2.33
С	2.00
C-	1.67
D+	1.33
D	1.00
D-	0.67
F	0.00

Policies adopted by the faculty establish grade average ranges that apply to most courses (2.8 - 3.0 in most first-year courses and 3.0 - 3.2 in Legal Research & Writing I and II, and in most upper-level courses), subject to limited exceptions. The faculty has also adopted a policy that ordinarily, once a final grade (other than an "incomplete") has been entered for a given class, that grade will be changed only because of mathematical or similar errors in the calculation of the grade.

## **Academic Advising**

(a) The Law School has established a variety of avenues where a student can find advice. These avenues include a requirement that all students be individually advised by a member of the faculty before each registration

period. Students may choose any member of the faculty, and advising materials, including an advising questionnaire, are provided to each student before each registration period in November and April. The selected faculty member shall provide the student with advice regarding the law school's academic standards and graduation requirements, and guidance regarding course selection and sequencing. Except as provided below in subsection (c), all students must have their faculty adviser approve and sign their advising card.

(b) Academic Monitoring and Special Advising Program: Any student who earns more than 8 credit hours of grades lower than a "C," or a cumulative GPA below a 2.50 in any given semester, shall be required to meet with the Associate Dean for Students and the Designated Academic Adviser, as soon as possible after the grades or cumulative GPA is earned. The student shall have the responsibility for scheduling the first meeting. The student will also be required to participate in the special advising program pursuant to which only the Associate Dean for Students will be authorized to approve and sign such student's advising card during the period of academic monitoring. It is expressly intended that during this advising period the Designated Academic Adviser and the Associate Dean for Students shall have the authority to impose reasonable conditions on such student's continued enrollment, including but not limited to the power:

- 1. to approve or reject any course schedule;
- to limit the number of credit hours in which a student may enroll during any semester;
- to require enrollment in, attendance at, or participation in one or more academic courses, lectures, programs, or tutorials;
- 4. to require the student refrain from or limit employment while enrolled as a student on a full-time basis.

Any student who fails to abide by any condition imposed by the Designated Academic Adviser or the Associate Dean for Students may receive administrative sanctions upon the recommendation of the associate Dean for Students and the faculty, such as administrative withdrawal from classes, ineligibility to take replacement classes, or other penalties up to and including dismissal from law school. The special advising and monitoring period under this subsection will end when the student earns a cumulative 2.5 GPA.

(c) Designated Academic Adviser: The Dean shall appoint the Designated Academic Adviser. The Designated Academic Adviser shall prepare and submit an evaluative report to the Academic Dean at the end of each spring semester regarding student progress related to subsection (b) above. Participating students' confidentiality shall be observed in accordance with federal law.

#### Withdrawal

A student who leaves the University of Arkansas School of Law voluntarily before the end of a semester or summer term must first meet with the Associate Dean for Students and the School of Law Registrar. The registration-change deadlines for dropping courses apply to withdrawal as well. Students who fail to withdraw officially will receive grades of F in the classes for which they are registered but fail to complete.

## **University Policy on Auditing**

When a student takes a course for audit, that student must obtain permission from the instructor and the Dean's office, register for audit, pay the appropriate fees, and be admitted to the class on a space-available basis. The instructor shall notify the student of the requirements for receiving the mark of "AU" for the course. The instructor and the Dean

may drop a student from a course being audited if the student is not satisfying the requirements specified by the instructor. The student is to be notified if this action is taken. The only grade or mark which can be given for a course for audit is "AU."

### **Summer School**

The School of Law operates a summer school, open to its students and to students at other accredited law schools who have completed at least one year of study. Students from other law schools desiring to attend summer school at the University of Arkansas must satisfy the requirements of admission for students with advanced standing and should contact the School of Law Admissions Office, prior to the date of summer school registration.

### **Code of Conduct**

Those who enter the legal profession must be persons of integrity, meriting at all times the trust of their clients, associates, and other members of the bar. The process of earning trust cannot await graduation but should begin while the student is pursuing a law degree. Conduct of law students is governed by the Student Code of Conduct. Examinations, for example, are not normally proctored by the professors, but each student is to abide by the Code of Conduct, which is representative of the ethical standards of the legal profession. If students or student organizations are cited by staff, faculty, or other students for a possible violation of local, state, and federal laws and/or School of Law policies, they may be subject to disciplinary action by the School of Law and/or appropriate legal action. The code is available at law.uark.edu/academics/academic-policies (https://law.uark.edu/academics/academic-policies.php).

#### **Sexual Harassment**

It is the policy of the School of Law to provide an educational and work environment in which individuals are free to realize their full potential and where their thought, creativity, and growth are stimulated. The School of Law should be a place of work and study for students, faculty, and staff, free of all forms of sexual intimidation and exploitation. The university prohibits sexual harassment of its students, faculty, administrators, and staff and makes every effort to eliminate sexual harassment at the university. Sexual harassment of students is a violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972. Title IX prohibits discrimination based on sex in education programs and activities. For the complete text of the Title IX policy, please refer to PDF of the School of Law Sexual Harrassment Policy (http://law.uark.edu/documents/SchoolOfLaw-SexualHarrassmentPolicy-Feb2016.pdf). For complaints against University of Arkansas School of Law students by non-student victims/ complainants, please contact the Title IX Officer in the University of Arkansas Office of Equal Opportunity and Compliance.

#### Non-Discrimination

The University of Arkansas prohibits discrimination against and harassment of its students, faculty, and staff, or any applicant for employment. It is the policy of the University of Arkansas to provide an educational and work environment in which thought, creativity, and growth are stimulated, and in which individuals are free to realize their full potential through equal opportunity. The university should be a place of work and study for students, faculty, and staff, that is free of all forms of discrimination, sexual intimidation and exploitation. Therefore, the University of Arkansas is committed to providing equal opportunity for all students and applicants for admission and for all employees and applicants for employment regardless of race, age, gender, sex (including pregnancy), religion, national origin, marital or parental status,

disability, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity or any other characteristic protected under applicable federal or state law. In addition, discrimination in employment on the basis of genetic information is prohibited. For the complete text of the non-discrimination policy, please refer to: Non-Discrimination Policy (http://vcfa.uark.edu/policies/fayetteville/oeoc/2141.php).

## **Essential Academic and Professional Skills**

Students entering Law School are expected to understand that they must successfully complete all academic requirements for graduation, including meeting individual course requirements and expectations; to conform their conduct while in Law School to the professional standards required by the Law School Code of Conduct as well as other applicable conduct requirements for Law School activities; and to be able to satisfy requirements for admission to the Bar. In addition to a bar examination, there are character, fitness, and other qualifications for admission to the bar in every U.S. jurisdiction. Students should understand it is their responsibility to determine the requirements for any jurisdiction in which they intend to seek admission by contacting that jurisdiction's licensing authority.

## **School of Law Learning Outcomes**

The faculty has adopted the following learning outcomes for our J.D. program:

- Our graduates will have an understanding of their ethical responsibilities.
  - Graduates should demonstrate a fundamental understanding of the ethical responsibilities of an attorney as a client representative, officer of the court, and member of society.
- Our graduates will understand the law.
   Graduates should demonstrate a fundamental understanding of the basic elements of substantive law, procedure, and legal theory.
- Our graduates will be able to communicate the law.
   Graduates should demonstrate effective oral and written communication skills in the context of predictive, persuasive, and prescriptive application of the law.
- 4. Our graduates will be able to use the law. Graduates should demonstrate a reasonable array of legal practice skills, including the ability to conduct legal research, to engage in problem solving, to interact with clients, and to advocate on their
- Our graduates will be professionals.
   Graduates should demonstrate professionalism by conducting themselves in a professional manner, including by participating in opportunities to increase their professional knowledge and skills.

# Professional Standards Class Attendance

Regular and timely class attendance is necessary to achieve the core values of legal education. Law students have an ethical obligation to their future clients that require they be diligent in attaining both a broad and detailed knowledge of substantive and procedural law, and proficiency in the fundamental skills of lawyering.

Reading the assigned materials and attending classes are not duplicative, and one may not be substituted for the other. Although class time may include reviewing, testing, and correcting student understanding of the assigned materials, there is no expectation that class lectures will cover all or even most information contained in assigned materials.

Classroom presentations also add detail and nuance beyond that contained in assigned reading materials. Classroom discussions provide an opportunity to engage in civil discourse of disputed legal issues and to develop the intellectual and presentation skills necessary to effective representation.

### **Student Employment**

A law student may not be employed more than 20 hours per week in any semester in which the student is enrolled in more than 12 class hours. It is a student's responsibility to adhere to this requirement. In addition, it is strongly recommended that no student have outside employment during the first year of law school. The Career Services Office has adopted a policy informing employers who use School of Law students of this policy.

#### **Graduation Honors**

Each recipient of the J.D. degree who has met the following conditions shall receive the specified honor at the commencement exercise. *Summa Cum Laude* requires a cumulative grade point average of 3.75 or higher (on the 4.00 scale); *Magna Cum Laude* requires a cumulative grade point average is 3.50 through 3.74; *Cum Laude* requires a cumulative grade point average of 3.25 through 3.49. In all cases, if a student earns any credits outside the School of Law, a cumulative grade point will be computed separately for (1) the graded credits earned at the School of Law, and (2) the combined graded credits earned both at School of Law and elsewhere. The grade point requirements of the honors designations described above will not be considered satisfied unless the requirement is met with respect to each of the cumulative grade point averages calculated as described in both (1) and (2) of the preceding sentence.

#### **Character and Fitness**

A student who exhibits behavior that suggests or portends an inability to demonstrate character and fitness required to practice law may be required to participate in the Arkansas Judges & Lawyers Assistance Program (JLAP), Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS), or report to the All University Conduct Board (the AUCB) that oversees student disciplinary matters. Behavior that may subject a student to JLAP or CAPS might include, but is not limited to: repeatedly disrupting the classroom environment through inappropriate behavior; inappropriately exhibiting anger or threatening behavior; and abusing substance(s) that substantially affects mental or physical status. If the conduct at issue is sufficiently serious to involve University action, the matter shall be reported to the AUCB. The same conduct that is covered by this provision may also be subject to the Student Code of Conduct. Matters involving character and fitness under this policy are subject to procedures adopted by the faculty.

## **Student Complaints**

The purpose of this policy is to provide a procedure to allow any student in the School of Law to bring a complaint of any nature to the attention of the School of Law. The complaint may involve, but is not limited to, the following:

- Any significant problem that directly implicates the school's program
  of legal education and its compliance with the American Bar
  Association's Standards and Rules of Procedure for Approval of Law
  Schools (the "ABA Standards");
- Adverse information proposed to be placed in a student's permanent file that may be submitted to potential employers or to the character and fitness committee of any jurisdiction's bar; or,

 Any action that adversely affects the good standing or graduation of the student.

This policy supplements, but does not supplant, all other procedures established by the School of Law for responding to student complaints and concerns. This policy does not create a right to challenge a grade in a specific course.

Any complaint under this policy must: (1) be in writing; (2) describe the incident, concern, or other matter in sufficient detail to disclose the pertinent facts and circumstances; (3) if applicable, identify the provision or provisions of the ABA Standards or of any established School of Law practices or policies involved and include a brief explanation of how the matter implicates the school's program of legal education, its compliance with the ABA Standards, or any established practices or procedures; (4) give the student's name and be signed by the student (manually or electronically); (5) be submitted in a timely fashion; and (6) be submitted to the Dean. Any faculty member, administrator, or staff member of the School of Law (other than the Dean) who receives a complaint from a student that he or she concludes should be handled under this policy may forward the complaint to the Dean. Complaints submitted under this policy are handled in accordance with procedures adopted by the faculty.

Before any adverse information is placed in the permanent file of a student, the registrar shall notify the student and provide him or her with a copy of the adverse information. The student may file a complaint pursuant to this policy objecting that the information should not be placed in his or her permanent file because it does not raise significant questions about the student's character and fitness to practice law. However the following items shall be placed in the file without notice to the student: academic probation, suspension, or dismissal by the law school; adverse findings of the Petitions Committee; adverse findings of the Honor Council; adverse findings of the Student Conduct Council or the University of Arkansas All University Conduct Board; criminal convictions (felony or misdemeanor); a finding of liability for fraud in a civil proceeding. Upon written request, a student may see any information contained in the permanent file, except for information as to which the student has waived the right.

# Students with Disabilities Determination of Disabilities

For purposes of ascertaining whether a student is eligible for accommodations, either in the manner that courses are conducted or scheduled or in the examination of competency in such classes, the determination of whether a student has a disability within the meaning of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 12101-12213, and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. 794 (a), shall be made by the University's Center for Educational Access (CEA).

#### **Coordinator for Students with Disabilities**

The Dean will select an appropriately qualified coordinator for students with disabilities. Such a coordinator will work with the Associate Dean for Students to develop and implement procedures to assure appropriate accommodations for law students with disabilities.

## **Academic Integrity**

As a core part of its mission, the University of Arkansas provides students with the opportunity to further their educational goals through programs of study and research in an environment that promotes freedom of inquiry and academic responsibility. Accomplishing this mission is only possible when intellectual honesty and individual integrity prevail. Each University of Arkansas student is required to be familiar with and abide by the

university's Academic Integrity Policy (http://honesty.uark.edu/policy/) at honesty.uark.edu (http://honesty.uark.edu/). Students with questions about how these policies apply to a particular course or assignment should immediately contact their instructor.

## Annual Notice of Student Rights Under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) affords students certain rights with respect to their education records. They are as follows:

- 1. The right to inspect and review the student's education records, with some exceptions under the Act, within 45 days of the day the university receives a request for access. Students should submit to the Office of the Registrar written requests that identify the record(s) they wish to inspect. The university official will make arrangements for access and notify the student of the time and place where the records may be inspected. If the records are not maintained by the university official to whom the request was submitted, that official shall advise the student of the correct official to whom the request should be addressed.
- 2. The right to request the amendment of the student's education records that the student believes are inaccurate or misleading. Students should write the university official responsible for the record, clearly identify the part of the record they want changed, and specify why it is inaccurate or misleading. A sample form, which may be used in making this request, is contained in the appendix to UA Systemwide Policies and Procedures 515.1 (http://www.uasys.edu/policies/ua-system-policies/).

If the university decides not to amend the record as requested by the student, the university will notify the student of the decision and advise the student of his or her right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will be provided to the student when notified of the right to a hearing and is also contained in UA Systemwide Policies and Procedures 515.1 (http://www.uasys.edu/policies/ua-system-policies/).

3. The right to withhold consent of disclosure of directory information, defined as the following information: the student's name; date of birth; address; telephone number; email address; major field of study; classification by year; number of hours in which enrolled and number completed; participation in officially recognized activities and sports; weight and height of members of athletic teams; dates of attendance including withdrawal dates; degrees, honors, and awards received, including type and date granted; and photograph.

This information will be subject to public disclosure unless the student restricts such information through the appropriate settings in UAConnect, the student information system, or informs the Office of the Registrar in writing that he or she does not want this information designated as directory information.

4. The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent.

One exception, which permits disclosure without consent, is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational interests. A school official is a person employed by the university in an administrative, supervisory, academic or research, or support staff position (including law enforcement unit personnel and health staff);

a person or company with whom the university has contracted (such as an attorney, auditor, or collection agent); a person serving on the Board of Trustees; or a student serving on an official committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance committee, or assisting another school official in performing his or her tasks. A school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review an educational record to fulfill his or her professional responsibility. Upon request, the university also discloses education records without consent to officials for another school in which a student seeks or intends to enroll.

Postsecondary institutions may also disclose personally identifiable information from education records, without consent, to appropriate parties, including parents of an eligible student, in connection with a health or safety emergency. Under this provision, colleges and universities may notify parents when there is a health or safety emergency involving their son or daughter, even if the parents do not claim the student as a dependent.

There are several other exceptions to FERPA's prohibition against non-consensual disclosure of personally identifiable information from education records, some of which are briefly mentioned below. Under certain conditions (specified in the FERPA regulations), a school may non-consensually disclose personally identifiable information from education records:

- to authorized representatives of the Comptroller General of the United States, the Attorney General of the United States, the U.S. Secretary of Education, and State and local educational authorities for audit or evaluation of Federal or State supported education programs, or for the enforcement of or compliance with Federal legal requirements that relate to those programs;
- to the National Student Clearinghouse for enrollment and degree reporting;
- to organizations conducting studies for or on behalf of the school making the disclosure for the purposes of administering predictive tests, administering student aid programs, or improving instruction;
- to officials of another school where the student seeks or intends to enroll, or where the student is already enrolled if the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment or transfer;
- to comply with a judicial order or a lawfully issued subpoena;
- to the victim of an alleged perpetrator of a crime of violence or a non-forcible sex offense concerning the final results of a disciplinary hearing with respect to the alleged crime; and
- to any third party the final results of a disciplinary proceeding related to a crime of violence or non-forcible sex offense if the student who is the alleged perpetrator is found to have violated the school's rules or policies. The disclosure of the final results only includes: the name of the alleged perpetrator, the violation committed, and any sanction imposed against the alleged perpetrator. The disclosure must not include the name of any other student, including a victim or witness, without the written consent of that other student.
- 5. The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by the university to comply with the requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the office that administers FERPA is as follows:

Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington DC 20202-4605

- UA System Policy and Procedure 515.1 (http://www.uasys.edu/ policies/ua-system-policies/) serves as a supplement to the campus FERPA policy.
- FERPA applies to students at the University of Arkansas at the point of their enrollment into courses.

## **Photographic and Video Images**

The university is proud to publish and display photographic and video images of U of A students, their activities and accomplishments. Any student who does not wish to be represented in such photographic and video images by the university should choose to withhold photos on the FERPA option on the university's student information system.

### **Professional Licensure Disclosure Policy**

In compliance with federal regulation 34 CFR 668.43 (a) (5) (v) and 34 CFR 668.43 (c), the University will disclose to a student whether the student's declared degree or certificate program leads to the ability to obtain a professional license in the state of the student's self-reported *location*. Disclosure will occur prior to the student making a *financial commitment to the institution*. To facilitate this timeline, notification will be made following the student's initial enrollment in courses in a term to which the student has been admitted or readmitted to the university.

Once enrolled in a program, if the institution makes a later determination that the program does not meet educational requirements for licensure or certification in the state where the student is located, the University of Arkansas will provide notice directly to the student within 14 calendar days of making that determination.

General disclosures on professional licensure status in each state will be maintained on the University of Arkansas website.

For the purpose of this policy, the following definitions apply:

**Location** means the state in which the student reports they will be physically located while completing the student's program of study, also known as the reported "local" or "campus" address. Location will be designated in the first term of enrollment in coursework and will be updated upon receipt and processing of any formal notification by the student to the university of a change in location.

**Financial commitment to the institution** means the payment of or agreement to pay registration related tuition, fees, and charges.

Law\_2022-23

## **Students and Programs**

Responding to the needs and interests of our students is at the heart of the School of Law's mission. We have a long-standing tradition of respect, recognition, and strong interactions between faculty and students. Faculty and students work together on special projects, skills training, traveling, and competitions.

### **Diversity**

The School of Law has a diverse student body. Each year, the School of Law offers a Wal-Mart Legal Diversity Scholarship to a first-year law student whose presence adds to the diversity of the law school. The scholarship was established in 2004 through collaboration between the late Dean Richard B. Atkinson and Thomas Mars, '85, then senior vice president and general counsel for Walmart Stores Inc.

### **Student Organizations**

Student organizations are vital to the School of Law. Whether the Black Law Student Association, the Women's Law Student Association, the Student Bar Association, or any of the myriads of other organizations, incoming and upper level students will find a group that suits their interests.

## Publications Arkansas Law Review

The *Arkansas Law Review* is a legal periodical published quarterly by the students of the School of Law, in cooperation with the Arkansas Bar Association. Candidates for the *Arkansas Law Review* are selected from second-year law classes by the *Arkansas Law Review* editorial board on the basis of academic qualifications and writing ability.

The *Arkansas Law Review* offers an excellent opportunity to students with the ability and industry to do legal research and writing. All material published in the *Arkansas Law Review* is edited by a student board of editors, and some is written by students.

Arkansas Law Review articles and student notes and comments have been relied on by Arkansas courts, courts in other jurisdictions, and legal scholars. Previous issues of the Arkansas Law Review include contributions from by former President Bill Clinton, (then) U.S. Sen. Hillary Rodham Clinton, and Justice Antonin Scalia.

## **Journal of Food Law & Policy**

The first issue of the *Journal of Food Law & Policy* was published in July 2005 and signaled the inauguration of the country's first student-edited legal journal devoted to the study of relationships that exist among food, law, and society. The first issue featured articles by several prestigious authors, including renowned food law expert Peter Barton Hutt. Other issues have featured articles on a variety of topics, such as the Fourth Amendment and the FDA's authority to take photographs under FDCA, a comparison of the American and European approaches to beef regulation, and the legal effects of food technology. In October 2006, the *Journal of Food Law & Policy* was recognized by the American Agricultural Law Association for the best scholarly article published on agricultural law.

#### Arkansas Law Notes

Arkansas Law Notes is a student-edited online publication that strives to publish practice-oriented and shorter scholarly works that will have an immediate and lasting impact on the Arkansas legal community. Arkansas Law Notes emphasizes timely publication on cutting edge legal issues,

thereby enabling authors to reach a broader audience more quickly than a traditional print publication.

Arkansas Law Notes encourages submissions from local practitioners, law professors, judges, and law students. Submissions are published on a rolling basis, and may include shorter pieces than traditional law review articles. Completed works receive an individual cite and are published on the Arkansas Law Notes website.

## **Experiential Learning**

Students are required to earn a minimum of six credit hours of experiential learning coursework. Experiential Learning courses include clinics, externships, and simulation courses.

## **Legal Clinic**

The University of Arkansas Law School Legal Clinic was founded by thenprofessor Hillary Rodham Clinton in 1975 to give students hands-on skills training by representing real clients in real life legal situations, and to provide a much needed service to the Northwest Arkansas community.

The Legal Clinic includes the Civil Litigation and Advocacy Clinic, Criminal Practice Clinic, Federal Practice Clinic, Human Trafficking Clinic, Immigration Clinic and Transactional Clinic.

### **Externships**

The University of Arkansas School of Law (School) Externship program provides an opportunity for students to actively participate in a field of interest to them while earning academic credit. Elective externships are available to second and third year law students who have successfully completed two semesters of law school, are in good standing, and (preferably) have completed or are concurrently enrolled in Professional Responsibility. Some externships demand more specific requirements intended to enhance the externship experience.

Externships are available in the areas of Capstone, Corporate Counsel, Criminal Defense, Criminal Prosecution, Government, International, Judicial, and Public Interest.

#### Simulation Courses

A Simulation Course is a course that complies with the requirements for simulation courses under § 304 of Chapter 3 of the American Bar Association's Standards and Rules of Procedure for Approval of Law Schools. Simulation courses include the following: Arbitration; Business Lawyering Skills; Child Welfare Practice; Civil Litigation Discovery; Conflict Resolution; Construction Law Practice; Crime & the Supreme Court; Interviewing, Counseling and Negotiating; Mediation in Practice; and Trial Advocacy.

## **Pro Bono Programs**

Law Students will have the opportunity to volunteer their time, and gain valuable experience, by providing *pro bono* work under the proper supervision of an attorney. The program is characterized by a referral system, which is designed to match students with law-related *pro bono* opportunities in the community.

Each year, within the United States, four out of five low-income people in need of legal assistance are denied service. Many eligible clients do not receive help because of a language barrier, disability, or lack of literacy. Many others are turned away because of overwhelming caseloads at legal services offices. In the United States, there is an average of one legal aid

attorney for every 6,861 low-income people. With help from attorneys and student attorneys, we can help decrease this number.

Rule 6.1 of the Model Rules of Professional Conduct recognizes an attorney's obligation to provide legal service to the community. Ideally, every attorney should perform a minimum of 50 *pro bono* public hours annually. This service is not mandatory but is an aspiration. By giving back to the community in which they live and work, law students and lawyers contribute to the advancement of their community, give assistance to the poor, and develop true professionalism in the practice of law.

## **Board of Advocates**

The School of Law hosts three internal competitions that lead to the selection of moot court, trial, and client advocacy competition teams that travel to regional and national competitions. Both second- and third-year students are eligible to apply for positions on traveling competition teams, in moot court, trial, and client advocacy. Its activities are governed by a detailed set of bylaws.

1L students are eligible to compete in an internal client advocacy competition in the spring of their first year and to participate as witnesses, timekeepers, and clients in all law-school hosted competitions. The final rounds of each of these competitions features distinguished jurists and alumni — the public is invited to attend these final rounds.

During the fall, the Board of Advocates and the School of Law sponsor the William H. Sutton Barrister's Union Trial Competition (open to 2L and 3L students). From this competition, top competitors are invited to try out for two inter-school teams: one sponsored by the American Board of Trial Advocates and the Texas Young Lawyers Association, and sponsored by the AAJ (formerly STAC).

During the winter and spring, upper level students are invited to participate in the Ben J. Altheimer Spring Moot Court competition, in which competitors form two-person teams, write a brief, and argue both sides of a case before panels of moot court judges. From this competition, outstanding advocates are selected to represent the School of Law in the National Moot Court Competition, sponsored by the Bar of the City of New York (regional rounds in November; final rounds in January in New York City) and the American Bar Association National Appellate Advocacy Competition (regional rounds in February and final rounds in April, in Chicago).

Late in the spring semester, all students (first year, second year, third year) are invited to participate in the law school's client advocacy competitions. Outstanding advocates from this competition may be selected to compete in one of the ABA's client advocacy competitions: either in negotiations or in client counseling.

Periodically, the Board of Advocates also supports the fielding of ad hoc competition teams, through an application process that begins with the faculty advisor to the Board of Advocates. Applications are reviewed by the executive committee of the Board, and by the law school administration. Review of such proposals focuses on the applicant's participation in the internal Client Advocacy, Trial, and Moot Court competitions, as well as other specialized knowledge and/or preparation required by the proposed competition.

## **Young Law Library**

The Robert A. and Vivian Young Law Library collection contains roughly two hundred thousand volumes, including cases, statutes, digests, law reviews, and treatises, and provides access to legal materials from every American and many foreign jurisdictions.

The Young Law Library is a depository for federal documents, and it is Arkansas' only United Nations documents depository library. The Law Library is responsive to the changing needs of students and faculty of the School of Law and strives to collect materials to support their curriculum and research requirements. Our growing collections of Native American law and agricultural law materials are excellent examples.

Students research legal problems using both print and electronic resources. Our computer lab is available for faculty classes and student research. Wireless network access is available to all students, faculty, and staff within the law school. Reference librarians, reference assistants, and our computer services team are also available during library hours to answer any questions.

While primarily designed for the use of law school students and faculty, the Young Law Library also serves the research needs of the Arkansas bench and bar as well as the university community and the public. The Young Law Library provides an attractive and comfortable atmosphere for study and research, including Arsaga's Espresso Cafe, which serves drinks, pastries, and sandwiches.

In addition, the main campus library, Mullins Library, is located near the Young Law Library and provides access to a variety of paper and electronic materials that support a wide variety of research.

For more information about the Young Law Library, visit the library's website (http://law.uark.edu/library/).

## **International Programs**

## **Cambridge Study Abroad Program**

The Cambridge Study Abroad Program is a fully ABA-accredited program, jointly sponsored by Downing College of Cambridge University and the University of Mississippi School of Law, in consortium with the University of Arkansas School of Law, the University of Tennessee College of Law, and the University of Nebraska College of Law. The program lasts six weeks and includes courses in international and comparative law. For more information, visit the Cambridge Study Abroad website (http://law.olemiss.edu/academics-programs/cambridge-study-abroad-program/).

### **Other International Opportunities**

In addition to the more traditional study abroad programs, which typically last 4-6 weeks, the Law School frequently sponsors shorter international opportunities where classroom components of the courses are completed in the Law School followed by a short trip abroad to interact with the legal community in a given country. In recent years, students have traveled to Moldova, St. Petersburg, and Rome.

## **Courses of Instruction**

The School of Law offers a wide variety of graduate-level Law (LAWW) courses (p. 30) for students enrolled in the school. The Sam M. Walton College of Business also offers Business Law (BLAW) courses (p. 30).

## **Business Law (BLAW)**

#### Courses

## BLAW 2013. The Legal Environment of Business (ACTS Equivalency = BLAW 2003). 3 Hours.

Introduction to the legal and ethical environment in which business operates. Topics covered in this survey course include: introduction to the legal system and the judicial resolution of disputes, constitutional law, administrative law, criminal law, torts, contracts, property law, advertising and marketing law, bankruptcy and credit transactions, business organizations, antitrust, employment law and ethics. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

#### BLAW 2013H. Honors The Legal Environment of Business. 3 Hours.

Introduction to the legal and ethical environment in which business operates. Topics covered in this survey course include: introduction to the legal system and the judicial resolution of disputes, constitutional law, administrative law, criminal law, torts, contracts, property law, advertising and marketing law, bankruptcy and credit transactions, business organizations, antitrust, employment law and ethics. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

This course is equivalent to BLAW 2013.

#### BLAW 3033. Commercial Law. 3 Hours.

A study of the laws applicable to commercial transactions. Topics covered include the common law of contracts, Articles Two (Sales) and Three (Commercial Paper) of the Uniform Commercial Code, secured transactions, suretyship, and bankruptcy. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### BLAW 5003. Commercial Transactions. 3 Hours.

A study of laws applicable to business. Topics covered include the law of Contracts and UCC Sales, Payment Systems (checking accounts and E-payments), Bankruptcy, Intellectual Property, Principal-Agency Relationships, Business Entities, Data Security, Federal Securities Law, and Accountant's Legal Liability. Prerequisite: Graduate standing. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## Law (LAWW)

#### Courses

#### LAWW 400V. Entertainment Law. 1-6 Hour.

Examines the legal principles and relationships of the entertainment industry, with a primary emphasis on the music industry; provides an introduction to the practice of entertainment law and the negotiation of entertainment contracts; highlights a variety of legal and practical issues that arise when representing clients in the entertainment industry. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4013. Legal Research & Writing I. 3 Hours.

An introduction to the special problems posed by the legal analysis and the expression of the results of that process. The primary emphasis will be on basic legal analysis techniques, basic legal writing skills, and proper citation form.

Students will complete a series of writing assignments. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 4024. Contracts. 4 Hours.

Formation and enforcement by litigation and commercial arbitration of commercial and family agreements. Mutual assent or consideration; third-party beneficiaries; assignments; joint obligation; performance; anticipatory breach; discharge of contractual duties; and the Statute of Frauds. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4054. Property. 4 Hours.

This course deals with the creation and transfer of rights over property. The primary emphasis will be on entitlements in land. Subject to variations among professors, topics will include the rights of landowners to exclude others, estates in land, coownership, landlord-tenant law, real estate and personal property transactions, and servitudes. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 406V. Upper Level Writing. 1-3 Hour.

Second year students must take at least one 2 or 3-hour course in upper level research and writing which has been certified by the faculty as an Upper Level Writing course. The course, which is constructed around a special topic or specific area of the law, focuses on writing or drafting. Writing component accounts for at least 2/3 of the final grade. Prerequisite: LAWW 4013 and LAWW 4113. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer) May be repeated for up to 10 hours of degree credit

#### LAWW 4074, Criminal Law, 4 Hours,

Deals with the questions of what conduct society punishes through a criminal code and of the appropriate punishment for the forbidden conduct. In this context the course includes an analysis of the theories of punishment, the definitions of various crimes, the defenses available to one charged with criminal conduct, and the limitations placed by the Constitution on governmental power in the criminal law area. Throughout the course, special emphasis is placed on the legislature's role in creating statutes alongside the judiciary's corresponding role in interpreting those statutes. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4104. Civil Procedure. 4 Hours.

Study of the process of civil litigation from preliminary matters such as court selection and jurisdiction, through joinder of parties and discovery techniques, to disposition of cases and finality of judgments. Some attempt is made to cover the antecedents of modern procedure; where appropriate, suggestions for reform are developed in class discussion. Emphasis is on the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 4113. Legal Research & Writing II. 3 Hours.

An introduction to persuasive writing techniques and intermediate computer research. Student will write a full appellate brief and deliver an oral argument. Prerequisite: LAWW 4013. (Typically offered: Spring)

## LAWW 413V. ULW: Gender-Based Violence & Human Rights Policies & Procedures. 2-3 Hour.

The course explores various forms of gender-based violence in public and private spheres and the relationship between this violence and discourse on human rights in both the legal and policy arenas. Also considers additional solutions to the prevention of sexual violence including the economic empowerment of women, the education of girls, and others. Meets the Upper Level Writing Requirement. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4144. Torts. 4 Hours.

An introduction to basic principles of liability for harm to persons and property. The course analyzes various categories of tortious conduct, defenses and immunities, damages, and underlying principles and policies justifying liability. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4173. Criminal Procedure: Investigations. 3 Hours.

Generally this course focuses on: (1) criminal investigation practices, more precisely, contacts between the police and persons suspected or accused of crime, at the time of or shortly before and after arrest; (2) the federal constitutional rights of suspects in their contacts with the police or, stated another way, the federal constitutional restrictions (or lack of restrictions) on the police, based on the 4th, 5th, 6th, and 14th amendments; (3) the exclusionary rule, which limits the admissibility of evidence obtained by the police from suspects in violation of their federal constitutional rights; and (4) United States Supreme Court jurisprudence. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4182. Upper Level Writing - Business Drafting. 2 Hours.

ULW-Business Drafting is an advanced writing course that takes students through a number of writing assignments. It is geared at teaching students to produce prescriptive writing, as oppose to predicting how the law would apply or persuading a reader about how the law should apply. This class therefore requires students to use information that they have gained in other classes, notably Business Organizations, and use it in drafting appropriate documents ranging from organizational forms, to documents describing how a business is to be operated, to commercial contracts. Students will also work on professionally communicating with various constituents such as clients and other attorneys about the contents of and rationale behind drafting choices in these documents. Prerequisite: LAWW 4294. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4212. Upper Level Writing: Policing Law & Policy. 2 Hours.

This course will analyze the role of police discretion in the criminal justice system particularly in the context of traffic stops, interrogations, and suppression hearings. Although there are no prerequisites, students have ideally already taken Criminal Procedure and Criminal Procedure II. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4233. Upper Level Writing: Crime and the Supreme Court. 3 Hours.

This course critically examines criminal law and procedure cases currently pending before the Supreme Court. Students will construct hypothetical Supreme Court, argue selected cases, take a vote, and then produce an actual series of judicial opinions, and make an appellate argument. Prerequisite: LAWW 4013 and LAWW 4113. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4294. Business Organizations. 4 Hours.

This is an introductory, survey course focusing primarily on the law applicable to closely held businesses, including agency rules and the law applicable to general and limited partnerships, LLPs and LLLPs, limited liability companies, and corporations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 4442. Law & Accounting. 2 Hours.

Study of basic accounting principles and their importance to attorneys engaged in business related activities. Topics covered include the fundamental accounting equation, the nature of accrual accounting, understanding financial statements, and accounting for assets and liabilities. Also a review of basic principles associated with financial statement analysis and valuation principles, including the time value of money. Intended for students with little or no business training, and may not be taken for credit by students who have previously earned 3 or more hours of undergraduate or graduate credit in accounting courses. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 445V. Mastering Legal Analysis. 1-2 Hour.

In this course students will revisit and expand upon the core principles of legal analysis. This course will be based on an active-learning model with a focus on practicing legal analysis under time-pressured conditions. The professor will provide extensive individualized feedback on exercises. The materials for this course will largely be drawn from the written portions of the bar exam (both Arkansas and UBE). (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 500V. Special Topics. 1-18 Hour.

Included under this heading will be a variety of variable credit law courses taught by law faculty on topics that are not included elsewhere in the curriculum. (Typically offered: Irregular) May be repeated for up to 18 hours of degree credit.

#### LAWW 5013. Professional Responsibility. 3 Hours.

Role of the lawyer as counselor, advocate, and public servant; obligation to society of the individual lawyer and the profession as a whole; ethical problems of the profession; representation of the unpopular cause and the desirable client, lawyers' obligation to law reform; lawyer and the press; the lawyer in public service; the aspects of law office management. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 502V. Remedies. 3-4 Hour.

Covers equity (jurisdiction and powers of courts of equity, injunctions, including adequacy of legal remedies, balancing of equities, interests protected, and defenses), damages (compensatory, exemplary, and nominal damages; direct and consequential damages; mitigation; special application in contract and tort actions) and restitution (relief afforded by the judicial process, to prevent unjust retention of benefits). (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5031. Basic Title Examination. 1 Hour.

Basic Title Examination is a course designed to teach students how to examine abstracts of title and other compilations of public real estate records to determine ownership and marketability of surface title. The course utilizes the theoretical understanding gained from traditional substantive law courses including Property and Decedents? Estates but teaches applied practical skills not usually taught in those courses. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 5041. Oil and Gas Title Examination. 1 Hour.

Oil and Gas Title Examination is a course designed to teach students who have successfully completed Basic Title Examination how to use abstracts of title and other compilations of public real estate records to determine ownership and marketability of minerals, including oil and gas, and oil and gas leasehold, royalty, overriding royalty and other similar interests. The course utilizes the theoretical understanding gained from traditional real property and oil and gas law courses, but teach practical skills not currently taught in the usual classroom setting. Pre- or Corequisite: LAWW 5031. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 5053. Energy Law. 3 Hours.

Energy law governs the life cycle of energy resources, from resource development and generation of electricity to the end use in homes, businesses, and cars. In this growing area of practice, energy lawyers represent energy companies, public utilities, government agencies, and non-profit organizations. The course provides a survey of how different sources of energy - hydropower, oil and natural gas, coal, nuclear energy, and renewables - are regulated. Through this survey, we will consider important policy issues such as public utility regulation and the role of markets; the federal-state balance; and environmental impacts and the future of clean energy. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5073. Family Law. 3 Hours.

Devoted primarily to the problems generated by family relationships. There is a large section on formation and dissolution of marriage. Substantial time is also given to paternity and legitimacy, obligations toward and of children, custody, adoption, guardianship, general property law as it is affected by family relationships, and divorce and custody in the federal system (focusing primarily on enforceability of decrees in one state by courts sitting in another state). (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5083, First Amendment, 3 Hours.

An intensive examination of the legal issues arising under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, with an emphasis on basic free speech doctrines and the dilemmas posed by interplay between the free exercise and establishment clauses. Prerequisite: LAWW 5114. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5092. Banking & Creditors' Rights Litigation. 2 Hours.

Students in this course will learn how to protect and enforce the creditors' rights through litigation by drafting demand letters, petitions, motions, settlement agreement, proposed judgments, and other filings before and after bankruptcy. Students will simulate the representation of a creditor with a defaulted loan and will be expected to enforce the applicable instruments within the Model Rules of Professional Conduct as well as the strictures of the Bankruptcy Code. Through the simulated filings and oral arguments, students will be introduced to enforcement and bankruptcy concepts and will be better prepared to practice in the creditors' rights realm. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

#### LAWW 510V. Law: Study Abroad. 1-6 Hour.

Open to law students studying abroad in officially sanctioned programs. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5114. Constitutional Law. 4 Hours.

An introduction to the basic principles of constitutional law and to current constitutional doctrines and problems. The primary focus will be on the structure of the federal system and on the rights of individuals under the Due Process and Equal Protection clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### LAWW 5122. ABOTA Trial Practice Lecture Series. 2 Hours.

Lecture series by experienced and prominent Arkansas trial attorneys, lecturing on case evaluation, jury instructions, witness preparation, scheduling orders, courtroom civility, voir dire, opening statement, direct and cross-examination, objections, and closing arguments. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### LAWW 5133. Real Estate Transactions. 3 Hours.

Focuses on real estate transfer, real estate finance and real estate development. Issues relating to the sale of land and conveyances of real property, mortgages and the planning, financing, constructing and marketing of modern real estate developments are treated. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5163. Administrative Law. 3 Hours.

Course is constructed around Federal materials, but with some state references. Considers the origin and constitutional basis for the administrative process; executive and legislative controls with particular emphasis upon the judicial "control" of the administrative process (delegations, procedural and substantive due process, judicial assistance and enforcement and review of administrative decisions). (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5172. Disability Law. 2 Hours.

This study of U.S. disability law begins by defining "disability" under the Constitution, federal statutes, and court decisions. The ADA, the Rehab Act, and other federal/ state disability laws will be studied and applied to employment issues, public accommodations, governmental services/programs, education, housing and independent living, and health care. Concepts like discrimination, disparate treatment/impact, reasonable accommodations, physical/mental impairments, undue hardships, architectural barriers, harassment, retaliation, licensing, and many others will be examined. In addition, the Social Security Act's Disability Insurance Benefits (DIB) and Supplemental Security Insurance. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 518V. Banking Law. 2-3 Hour.

This class is designed to provide students with a detailed overview of banking law. Subjects we will cover include the history of banking regulation, the business of banking, banking regulation, bank assets, consumer lending, bank liabilities and capital, supervision, expansion and mergers, trust and fiduciary standards, capital markets, derivatives, and international banking. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5191. Deposition Practice. 1 Hour.

The focus of this class is to teach how to take, defend and use depositions in civil cases. There will be extensive study of Rules 28-32 of the Arkansas and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Additionally, the State and Federal cases applicable to depositions will be discussed and reviewed. Discussion on the practicality of a deposition such as the timing, scheduling and expenses in depositions. Students will observe parts of several video depositions followed by a discussion. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5213. Business Lawyering Skills. 3 Hours.

Provides practical skills instruction through exercises that simulate business client interviews, negotiations, mediation, and arbitration. Multiple written projects are also involved. Prerequisite: LAWW 4294. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5252. International Commercial Arbitration. 2 Hours.

This course will survey the history, purposes, and processes of international commercial arbitration. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 527V. Law and Economics. 2-3 Hour.

Law and Economics examines legal and policy issues by critically analyzing whether legal rules provide the greatest good to the greatest number of people. The class offers an introduction to basic economic principles, while providing a useful review of many core law school and bar exam subjects. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5293. Cyber Crime. 3 Hours.

This course examines the law governing computer crime and the limits on law enforcement surveillance. We consider substantive crimes such as hacking, identity theft, economic espionage, and online threats before we examine the Fourth Amendment, the Wiretap Act, and other limits on law enforcement. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5303. International and Domestic Sales and Leasing. 3 Hours.

Study of Articles 2 and 2A of the Uniform Commercial Code and the United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods" (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5313. Payment Systems. 3 Hours.

This course summarizes and explains the fundamental law applicable to a broad variety of current payment systems. Coverage includes issues of liability, transfer, holder in due course status, and check collection applicable to negotiable instruments (checks, notes, drafts) governed by UCC Articles 3 and 4, as well as letters of credit and documents of title governed by UCC Articles 5 and 7. The course further examines the rights, obligations, and federal protection applicable to credit and debit cards. Finally, it addresses recent legal developments in regard to a variety of electronic fund transfers, prepaid cards and digital currencies. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5333. Health Policy. 3 Hours.

The focus will be on policy issues facing the American health care system. We will discuss health policy, policy making, and the law. The American health care delivery system will be studied -- including its funding mechanisms (like Medicare, Medicaid, and health insurance) -- and compared to other countries. Public health institutions and systems will be explored. The Affordable Care Act will be reviewed in depth. Social health determinants will be examined, along with ways attorneys can intervene to "treat" important social issues affecting health. Individual rights to health care in the U.S. will be discussed, as well as specific rights related to gender, abortion, genetic research, suicide, and end-of-life issues. Discrimination in health care will be examined. Medical malpractice reform will be debated. Public health issues like FDA drug regulation, obesity, opioid abuse, vaccinations, and medical marijuana will be surveyed. Health care quality policy and the law will be reviewed. Additional topics will be added as time allows and as current events dictate. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 535V, Arkansas Constitutional Law, 1-2 Hour.

This course covers provisions of the Arkansas Constitution, including the Declaration of Rights, the separation of powers, the power of the executive and legislative branches, sovereign immunity, independent commissions, gambling and morality provisions, elections and term limits, taxation and exemptions, taxpayer lawsuits, and other topics. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 536V. Securities Regulation. 2-3 Hour.

This course explores the federal regulation of securities, with emphasis on the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Topics examined include: the definition of a securities, public company disclosures, enforcement issues, antifraud rules, and insider trading liability, public offering mechanics, and exempt offerings. Prerequisite: LAWW 4294. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5372. Immigration Law. 2 Hours.

A study of the immigration, nationality, and naturalization laws of the United States; discussion of policy issues relating to migration, refugees, asylum, deportation, and citizenship issues. The Course will also explore pop culture references to immigration issues and examine the truths and fallacies of what is presented for entertainment purposes. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5382. Employment Discrimination. 2 Hours.

This course focuses on the study of the significant cases and statutes that protect employees from discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, and disability, with emphasis on Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, and the Americans with Disabilities Act. Final exam will be a take-home exam. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5391. Effective Corporate Compliance. 1 Hour.

This course provides a high-level overview of the importance and structure of an effective compliance program within a business, with the purpose of mitigating legal risk. The Federal Sentencing Guidelines specify the elements of an effective compliance program, and some federal agencies like have interpreted these or implemented them through regulation. Corporations are facing an ever-changing regulatory environment in a multitude of sectors, and this course prepares students with a foundational level of how compliance professionals build effective compliance programs, using a relevant fact pattern to bring the course material to life. Students who choose to work for a corporation (even in the legal department) will need to be familiar with how that corporation implements the elements of an effective compliance program, so as to effectively defend or advise the corporation. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5402. Legislation. 2 Hours.

Law in the United States increasingly comes from written texts -- statutes, ordinances, and administrative regulations. This course will introduce the primary tools that lawyers use when interpreting these texts. It will begin with an overview of various theories and methodological approaches to interpretation. Then it will turn to the ways that lawyers and courts discern the meaning of legal texts (including through canons of interpretation) and construe those texts in light of external sources of authority (including legislative history and other texts). At various points during the course, students will apply these tools to hypothetical and real-world problems. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5413. Natural Resources Law. 3 Hours.

This course examines the laws and policies governing the use of natural resources. Natural resources include forests, water, and wildlife, as well as hard rock minerals, coal, oil, and natural gas. We will discuss who owns these resources, how they are used or managed, and how their use is regulated. The course will also consider the laws governing management of public lands, such as national parks, monuments, and wilderness areas. Throughout the course, we will examine the values at stake in natural resource use and protection, the conflicts between public and private use, and the challenges inherent in natural resource management. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5431. Jury Trial Strategies. 1 Hour.

The goal of this class is to introduce students to the evaluation, preparation and prosecution of a jury trial. The class emphasizes properly evaluating the merits of a case early on and investigating the facts, parties and witnesses. The students will be asked to draft a complaint and an answer based on vignettes provided. Unlike other substantive law classes; this is very much a hands-on, how-to class. We will discuss in detail several "how to" procedures such as: Propounding discovery requests, making proper objections, making motions for directed verdict, preparing exhibits, proffering testimony, preparing jury instructions, making opening statements and closing arguments and how to make a proper record for appeal. All of these procedures will be supplemented with current precedent from the Arkansas Supreme Court and Court of Appeals and each step will be discussed within the confines of the Arkansas Rules of Professional Conduct. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 544V. Legal Operations. 2-3 Hour.

In this course students will learn about the operations principles 21st century legal entities are utilizing - and to which they are being held accountable. Topics will include: Strategic Planning, Financial Management, Vendor Management, Data Analytics, Technology, Change Management, Artificial Intelligence, Outside Counsel Selection and Management, as well as others. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5451. Environmental Torts. 1 Hour.

The focus of this class is common law environmental torts resulting in property damage, including negligence, trespass, strict liability, and nuisance. Presented are the elements of those causes of action and a review of common environmental tort fact patterns. Also discussed are issues associated with environmental torts, such as imputed liability, and defenses. Review remedies for damage to property and individuals. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 547V. State and Local Government. 2-3 Hour.

As citizens, much of our interaction with the law is local. Local governments determine the location of our nearest grocery store, how high (or low) property taxes will be, whether to maintain a public library, how late bars can serve alcohol, and even whether it is lawful to keep a pet python. Local government activity is significant, immediate, and pervasive. Despite the importance of local government law and institutions, most law school courses focus only on federal and state sources of law with little or no mention of local government. This course aims to address this void by providing a useful overview of core legal doctrines affecting the structure, authority, financing, and liabilities of local government in the United States. The course also covers the theoretical and empirical research underlying those doctrines, and is structured to provide a broad understanding of local government relevant to most United States jurisdictions. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 548V. Privacy Law. 1-3 Hour.

Information Privacy and Security Law will explore the principles underlying the emerging law of informational privacy in the context of significant U.S. data privacy legislation with relevant comparisons to certain international data privacy regimes.. Topics include the role of the FTC and state and federal laws. Regulations specific to children, healthcare, telemarketing, email, data breach and financial services will be addressed and discussion will touch on data analytics, facial recognition and other new technologies. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 550V. Wills, Trusts, and Estates. 1-4 Hour.

This is the study of the traditional areas of wills and trusts (intestate and testate succession). The trusts area includes both the private trust and the charitable trust. Taxation problems are not covered in depth but are instead reserved for the Federal Estate & Gift Taxation course. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5513. Labor Law. 3 Hours.

The right to organize; organization of labor unions; strikes; picketing; boycotts; collective bargaining; collective labor agreements and their enforcement; unfair labor practices by employers and by unions; the union member and his union; state labor relations legislation; the National Labor Relations Act and the Labor Management Relations Act. Not offered every year. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5543. International Business Transactions. 3 Hours.

This class is designed as an introductory overview of the body of laws that govern international business transactions. Subjects we will cover include international intellectual property treaties, import and export regulations, international commercial agreements, international payment mechanics and terms, antidumping and countervailing measures, competition (antitrust) law in international business, international corporation formation, acquisition, reorganization, and regulation of operations, international trade and project finance, regulation of global corruption, international tax planning, and planning international commercial arbitration. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5600. Law Research Assistant. 0 Hours.

Law Research Assistant is a zero-credit course available to students who work with or under the supervision of a faculty member on a research project that contributes significantly to faculty research, course preparation or presentation, or other scholarly work for or under the direction of a faculty member. Except as otherwise approved by the supervising faculty member with the concurrence of the Associate Dean for Academic Affairs, only students who have successfully completed or are currently registered for Law 5622 Essential Legal Research may enroll. Students who are working on research with or under the direction of a faculty member must have the written pre-approval of the supervising faculty to be registered and must obtain from the Law School Registrar and complete and submit to the Registrar the course request form. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

#### LAWW 5622. Essential Legal Research. 2 Hours.

This course covers the strategies, techniques, books, and databases essential to perform cost-effective legal research necessary for the practice of law and to assist faculty members as research assistants. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

#### LAWW 5643. International Criminal Law. 3 Hours.

This course will survey important topics in international criminal law such as genocide, war crimes, and crimes against humanity. It will trace the use of international tribunals from the Nuremberg and Tokyo tribunals to the International Criminal Court to enforce these international criminal laws. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5662. Mergers and Acquisitions. 2 Hours.

This course examines the legal and business considerations involved in the purchase and sale of a business, including an in-depth look at various transactional structures and the implications for shareholder voting, appraisal rights, along with an extensive review of director duties at all stages of the deal. Pre- or Corequisite: LAWW 4294. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 567V. Nonprofit Organizations. 2-3 Hour.

This course examines issues relating to the organization, operation, governance, and dissolution of various nonprofit entities, including charitable and public benefit corporations. Topics covered include the regulation of charitable contributions and their solicitation, obtaining and protecting tax-exempt status, and political and business activities of nonprofit organizations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5692. Rule of Law Colloquium. 2 Hours.

Course is about inquiry and exploration. Course covers the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act, and other anti-corruption initiatives. The context of why corruption exists and ways to address it, including through means other than legal prohibitions. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5701. Baseball and the Law. 1 Hour.

This course includes cases on the power of the commissioner; the taxes of a Dodger shortstop; antitrust law and Curt Flood; ownership of Barry Bond's home run ball #73; negligence at Wrigley Field; removal jurisdiction and Pete Rose; publicity rights to the Babe; criminal law and the Black Sox; trademark law. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5782. Introduction to Banking & Creditors' Rights Litigation. 2 Hours.

Students in this course will learn how to protect and enforce the creditors' rights through litigation by drafting demand letters, petitions, motions, settlement agreement, proposed judgments, and other filings before and after bankruptcy. Students will simulate the representation of a creditor with a defaulted loan and will be expected to enforce the applicable instruments within the Model Rules of Professional Conduct as well as the structures of the Bankruptcy Code. Through the simulated filings and oral arguments, students will be introduced to enforcement and bankruptcy concepts and will be better prepared to practice in the creditors' rights realm. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5793. Arbitration. 3 Hours.

Arbitration is an increasingly popular method of resolving civil disputes, including employment, securities regulation, construction, and insurance disputes. Although arbitration is the result of an agreement between parties, a developing legal regime governs its use. Federal and state laws such as the Federal Arbitration Act govern what disputes are covered by an arbitration agreement, when arbitration is prohibited, and whether a court can review the award. This course provides an overview of those laws and the court decisions interpreting them so that the students understand an area of law that they are likely to encounter in their varied careers. This course will also provide an opportunity to review important principles of contract law, conflicts of law, jurisdiction, and other subjects that will appear on the bar exam. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### LAWW 581V. Regulation of Cryptotransactions. 1-3 Hour.

This is an upper-level elective designed to introduce students to the regulatory environment in which cryptotransactions currently operate. While the focus is on U.S. law, international developments will also be mentioned more briefly. Class will start with an overview of terms and concepts, along with the history of money and blockchain developments. Then regulation of crypto as currency, as a commodity, and as a security under federal law will be covered. State laws and international law will illustrate a variety of alternative regulatory approaches. Taxation of crypto will not be covered in any depth. There are no pre-requisites. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

#### LAWW 5831. Arkansas Adoption Law. 1 Hour.

Students will be introduced to adoption law, with the primary emphasis on the adoption code and practice in Arkansas. Topics addressed will include the statutory and case law, court procedure and practice, litigated cases, international adoptions, and juvenile cases. It is anticipated that students will remotely attend a local adoption hearing. Students will be asked to prepare a petition, decree and trial brief, and to deliver a ten (10) minute presentation on an assigned adoption topic. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5841. Arkansas Equity. 1 Hour.

The course will cover the fundamental elements of Arkansas equity and equitable remedies, including jurisdiction, injunctions, preliminary injunctions, contempt, specific performance, equitable defense, constructive trusts and equitable liens, mistake. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5853. Constitutional and Impact Litigation. 3 Hours.

This course focuses on litigating civil rights claims under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983, in lawsuits by individuals suing government officials for violations of federal constitutional rights. We will focus on constitutional claims as well as investigation, discovery, and ethics in constitutional and impact litigation. We will use an open source curriculum of Supreme Court cases, scholarship, and practitioner resources so that no textbook is required and meet remotely. (Typically offered: Summer)

#### LAWW 5861. Foreclosure Law. 1 Hour.

Students will be introduced to foreclosure law, with the primary emphasis on the statutes and practice in Arkansas. Topics addressed will include the statutory and case law, court procedure and practice, alternatives to foreclosure, and the impact of COVID on the mortgage industry. Students will be asked to prepare a complaint, and decree, and to deliver a ten (10) minute presentation on an assigned foreclosure topic. (Typically offered: Summer)

#### LAWW 5881. Arkansas Landlord Tenant Law. 1 Hour.

The course will explore Arkansas landlord tenant law along with proposals for revision of the law. Topics covered will be the forcible entry and detainer statute, the security deposit statute, the failure to vacate statute, the residential landlord tenant act, and Arkansas's limitation on tort liability for landlords. Discussion on the federal laws governing HUD tenancies and the greater rights afforded in those tenancies. The course will discuss both theory and practice. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 5903. Post-Conviction Remedies. 3 Hours.

Post-conviction Remedies covers what happens to a felony conviction after direct appeal. This course will cover topics including the post-conviction process, federal habeas corpus, the statute of limitations for filing both, litigating actual innocence, and clemency. Students will have a take-home final exam. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 599V. Debtor-Creditor Relations. 3-4 Hour.

Study of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code and of the remedies of unsecured creditors. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 602V. Independent Legal Research. 1-3 Hour.

Independent legal research conducted under the supervision of faculty members. Ordinarily a student may not accumulate more than two semester hours of credit for Independent Legal Research. This cumulative maximum may be exceeded only by special permission of the dean, who in exceptional circumstances may approve a cumulative maximum credit of three semester hours of credit for Independent Legal Research. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

## LAWW 603V. Federal Courts. 1-3 Hour.

Focus is on essential aspects of federal court procedure, the scope and limits of federal judicial power, and the underlying principles of federalism and separation of powers. Topics will include federal court jurisdiction, the power of Congress to limit that jurisdiction, Supreme Court review of state court judgments, and abstention and justiciability doctrines. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 607V. Conflict of Laws. 2-3 Hour.

Study of the legal principles involved in problems which have connections with two or more states requiring a choice-of-law, choice-of-law in federal courts, and jurisdiction in multi-state situations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6082. Arkansas Civil Practice. 2 Hours.

This course will focus in depth on the intricacies of Arkansas civil litigation, including the long arm statute, venue, service of process, pleadings, motion practice, class actions, discovery, default judgments, summary judgments, directed verdicts, the right to a jury trial, new trials, appellate practice, and prior adjudication. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6093. Evidence. 3 Hours.

Study of the rules of evidence under which trials are conducted; the methods by which items of evidence and admitted or excluded; relevancy, real evidence, testimonial proof, and hearsay and its exceptions. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6103. Jurisprudence. 3 Hours.

Studies of the ideas and methods of law, regardless of particular questions that might be resolved by the law. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 611V. Interschool Competition Team. 1-2 Hour.

Interschool Competition Team provides an avenue for outstanding student advocates to register their completion of a rigorous interschool competition for purposes of academic credit. Students may register for this credit after satisfying the standards for approval of non-graded credit for Interschool Competition Credit, as outlined in the University of Arkansas School of Law Board of Advocates Bylaws and relevant Bylaw and Academic Standards provisions, as promulgated by the Faculty. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

## LAWW 6122. Private Equity Investing. 2 Hours.

Will focus on the central issues related to private equity investing -- both from the view of the company seeking private equity investment as well as from the view of the private equity investor. The overarching general objective of the course is to teach students the skills and tools used in the private equity arena. More specifically, this is a "what, why and how" course that will require students to apply legal and analytical skills to advising clients on actual issues in transactions. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6133. Antitrust Law. 3 Hours.

Federal anti-trust laws and their relationship to concentrations of economic power in the contexts of monopoly mergers, price fixing, economic boycotts and discrimination, re-sale price maintenance, dealer franchises, and exclusive dealing. Comparative analysis of free enterprise market and government regulated industries. Recommended for second- and third-year students interested in business practice or government service, as well as social welfare, or students with an interest in the subject. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6143. Oil and Gas. 3 Hours.

Study of the law of oil and gas with emphasis on the interests that may be created in oil and gas, the rights of the landowner, provisions in the oil and gas lease, the rights of assignees, and legislation dealing with production and conservation. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 614V. Board of Advocates Credit, 1-4 Hour.

Members of the Board of Advocates may receive ungraded academic credit, to be awarded in the spring semester of the member's third year in law school, upon completion of duties for the fall and spring semesters. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

#### LAWW 615V. Elder Law. 1-2 Hour.

Course covers the unique legal issues of the elderly including physical and mental characteristics of the elderly and how to adequately represent their needs; unique housing issues that progress from help at home to nursing home placement and how to pay for services with Medicaid and VA benefits; Medicaid and VA rules and planning for benefits; and the need for specific documents dealing with their impending incapacity, eventual death and passing with dignity. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 616V. Law Review Credit. 1-4 Hour.

Law review credit. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

## LAWW 6173. Introduction to Intellectual Property Law. 3 Hours.

This is an overview course covering the basics of intellectual property law (IP law). Thus, this course focuses on the protection of proprietary rights in inventions, writings, creative expression, software, trade secrets, trade designations, and other intangible intellectual products by federal patent, copyright, trademark and unfair competition law, and by state trade secrecy and unfair competition law. The course aims to give students entering a general business or civil litigation practice an overview of the various intellectual property doctrines. The course is designed both for those who are interested in pursuing IP as a career, and those who are looking only for a basic knowledge of the subject. There are no prerequisites, and a scientific background is not required. J.D. students and non-law students are welcomed. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 618V. Journal of Food Law & Policy Credit. 1-5 Hour.

Students receive credit for completion of duties on the Law School's publication of The Journal of Food Law & Policy. (Typically offered: Spring)

## LAWW 6192. Workers' Compensation. 2 Hours.

Study of state legislation providing remedies for workers injured in the course of their employment. Not offered every year. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6193. Workplace Legislation. 3 Hours.

An in-depth look at workplace statutes and the interpretive regulations along with significant and recent case law. Emphasis on wage and hour law, the Family Medical Leave Act, Occupational Safety and Health law and Arkansas Unemployment Compensation law. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6203. Trial Advocacy. 3 Hours.

An introduction to actual trial work and trial techniques through simulated exercises and the conduct of a mock trial. This course will satisfy the skills requirement. Pre- or Corequisite: LAWW 6093. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

#### LAWW 621V. Products Liability. 2-3 Hour.

An intensive study of the area including a review of the theories of liability; the concepts of product and defect; potential defendants; defenses; problems of proof and causation. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6233. Federal Income Tax of Individuals. 3 Hours.

Fundamentals of the federal income taxation of individuals. Topics covered include gross income, deductions, assignments of income, basis, taxation of property transactions, and tax accounting. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6253. Federal Income Taxation of Business Entities. 3 Hours.

Focus on tax issues in business formation, operation, distributions, and liquidations. Prerequisite: LAWW 6233. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6262. Estate Planning. 2 Hours.

Study of the role of lawyers (including ethical considerations) in fact gathering and analysis of data; testamentary and nonprobate transfers; planning for incapacity; Medicaid, income tax, and transfer tax considerations in small and large estates; gift techniques; planning for the surviving spouse; revocable and irrevocable trusts; life insurance; disposition of business interests; and post-mortem tax planning. Students are strongly encouraged to take either Wills, Trust and Estates or Federal Estate and Gift Taxation prior to taking the course. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6282. Multistate Substance and Strategies. 2 Hours.

In this class, students will review via videotaped lecture the seven subjects tested on the Multistate Bar Exam (MBE): Civil Procedure, Constitutional Law, Contracts, Criminal Law & Procedure, Evidence, Property, and Torts. For each subject, students will complete assessment quizzes and practice multiple choice questions. The final exam will consist of 100 MBE-style questions covering all subjects. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### LAWW 629V. Public Corporations. 2-3 Hour.

A survey of topics applicable to publicly owned corporations, including: corporate governance; shareholder communication and proxy regulation; introduction to corporate finance and dividend policies; mergers and acquisitions; tender offer regulation; aspects of securities regulation; and insider trading. Prerequisite: LAWW 4294. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 631V. Interschool Competition Team. 1-2 Hour.

Interschool Competition Team provides an avenue for outstanding student advocates to register their completion of a rigorous interschool competition for purposes of academic credit. Students may register for this credit after satisfying the standards for approval of non-graded credit for Interschool Competition Credit, as outlined in the University of Arkansas School of Law Board of Advocates Bylaws and relevant Bylaw and Academic Standards provisions, as promulgated by the Faculty. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

#### LAWW 6323. Poverty Law: Theory and Practice. 3 Hours.

Considers the implications of statutory and constitutional provisions that relate to several substantive areas of poverty law practice including public benefits, employment, consumer, health and family law. Prerequisite: LAWW 5114. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 633V. Intellectual Property. 2-3 Hour.

This course involves an introductory survey of topics in intellectual property, including copyright, trademark, patent, and unfair competition issues. If time permits, the course may also cover certain aspects of e-commerce. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6343. Conflict Resolution. 3 Hours.

Explores methods utilized in the legal profession for resolving disputes. Students develop skills by participating in simulation exercises designed to identify and apply processes. Class readings/discussion on theory and practice will be followed by student simulations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 635V. Arkansas Law Notes Credit. 1-4 Hour.

Arkansas Law Notes is published online as a student-run law journal by the University of Arkansas School of Law to members of the bar and the law school community at arkansaslawnotes.com. The publication features articles and current research, including student works. Law Notes is a tradition of the School of Law, dedicated to providing timely and insightful research on a variety of subjects to members of the bar. Law Notes is produced under the guidance of Professors Lonnie Beard, Uche Ewelukwa, and Brian Gallini. A mark of "CR" will be given. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6364. Legal Clinic: Immigration. 4 Hours.

Immigration Clinic will provide opportunities for students preparing for a career in immigration law or general practice by developing skills that are critical in legal practice through an experiential learning model. Working under the supervision of a clinical faculty member, students will represent sectors of the immigrant population for graded credit. Criminal Procedure and Professional Responsibility are prerequisites, as well as the completion of at least forty-eight credit hours prior to enrollment. Prerequisite: LAWW 5013. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6374. Legal Clinic: Bankruptcy. 4 Hours.

In this experiential course students are closely supervised in the preparation and filing of consumer Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for individuals and spouses from intake interview through discharge. The skill set taught includes information and fact gathering during a series of taped interviews, ethically handling trust account monies, drafting and filing the bankruptcy petition using document assembly software, appearance before the U.S. Trustee at the First Meeting of Creditors, and negotiating with bankruptcy trustees, creditors and other interested parties. The basic course is for 4 credit hours, and the Advanced course is available for an additional 2 credit hours. The expected learning outcome is to have students gain competence in providing representation in Chapter 7 consumer bankruptcies. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6393. Legal Clinic: Nonprofit. 3 Hours.

Rule 15 certification requires completion of 48 hours, including all first year classes and Professional Responsibility. Students receive clinical legal experience counseling and representing non-profit organizations serving Northwest Arkansas in a wide range of non-litigation business law matters. Services include startup, incorporation, obtaining federal and state tax exemptions, change of business form, purchase and lease of real and personal property, employment and labor law issues, and general contract negotiation, drafting and execution. In addition, students prepare and participate as presenters in a workshop on matters of general interest to non-profit organizations. Legal Clinic Faculty supervise and review the student attorney's work, and provide personal feedback to the individual student attorneys. Prerequisite: LAWW 5013. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6403. Land Use. 3 Hours.

Covers public land use controls such as zoning, subdivision regulations, and eminent domain (including private property rights, takings, and inverse condemnation). Heavy emphasis is placed on planning at state and local levels. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6413. Legal Clinic: Advanced Criminal Practice. 3 Hours.

The Advanced Criminal Practice Clinic is a 3-credit course offered after a student has successfully completed Criminal Practice Clinic. Students who wish to continue work on existing cases or work on more complicated criminal matters, may apply to enroll in the Advanced Criminal Practice Clinic. Professor approval is required for enrollment. Prerequisite: LAWW 6424. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6424. Legal Clinic: Criminal Practice Clinic. 4 Hours.

The Criminal Practice Clinic represents clients charged with misdemeanor and simple felony charges primarily in Washington County. Under close faculty supervision, students develop their ability to effectively and ethically practice law while providing much-needed legal assistance. In addition to client representation, and court appearances, students participate in a weekly seminar. Qualification for Rule XV practice. Prerequisite: LAWW 6093, LAWW 4173, and LAWW 5013. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 645V. American Legal History. 2-3 Hour.

An examination of major themes in American legal history, with an emphasis on the origins and meaning of the United States Constitution. Various topics will be explored in the light of the original understandings, developments over time, and current interpretations by the courts and the body politic. Course can and will be offered in either a two or three credit hour version. The latter would allow both an increase in the number of topics covered and greater depth of coverage for selected issues. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 646V. Student Coordinating Attorney. 1-3 Hour.

The School of Law recognizes the educational value of placements under the supervision of licensed, experienced attorneys, and offers students the possibility of public service learning opportunity serving as a student coordinating attorney for 2-3 credits of ungraded credit if approved by the designated Faculty Supervisor. This option shall be available only to a student with a cumulative GPA of at least 2.0 who has successfully completed 30 hours of Law School classes including Professional Responsibility, and who has obtained and submitted at least one recommendation from a faculty member who has had that student in at least one class in the past 12 months. A student coordinating attorney is a pro-bono position involving exposure to real world situations, involving some aspect of public service, where a lawyer's expertise and insights will be called for and can be observed. Placement is restricted to the courses offered in the all of the clinics offered at the law school. This position covers an entire semester (15 weeks during the spring and fall, and 10-12 weeks during the summer). For a two-credit student coordinating attorney position, the average work load must be no less than 8 hours per week in the fall and spring, or 10 hours per week in the summer. For a three-credit student coordinating attorney position, the average work load would be no less than 12 hours per week in the fall and spring, or 15 hours per week in the summer. Application required and must be completed in writing and delivered to the Faculty Supervisor no later than October 15 of the preceding semester for a spring semester student coordinating attorney position, no later than March 15 for a summer or fall semester student coordinating attorney position. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

#### LAWW 648V. Special Topics (Skills). 1-3 Hour.

Special Topics (Skills) is a course where "class names" allow for a menu of course titles that provide substantial instruction in professional skills related to the responsibilities which lawyers are called upon to meet such as trial and appellate advocacy, alternative methods of dispute resolution, counseling, interviewing, negotiating, problem solving, factual investigation, organization and management of legal work, drafting, and analytical processes for applying those skills in ethical fashion. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer) May be repeated for up to 15 hours of degree credit.

## LAWW 6493. Law and Psychology. 3 Hours.

This course covers key aspects of the relationship between law and psychology. Examples include: the regulatory effect on clinical practice of statutes, administrative regulations, and court decisions; and the influence of psychological expertise on legal decision-making through expert testimony in trial courts and amici briefs in appellate courts, testimony before legislative and administrative bodies, publication of research results, and provision of clinical services to correctional populations and public service occupations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6513. Immigration Law and Policy. 3 Hours.

Study of immigration and nationality, including exclusion and deportation; political asylum and refugee status; visa allocation and distribution; labor certification; and naturalization and citizenship. It is recommended that Administrative Law be taken first. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6523. Employment Law. 3 Hours.

An overview of the law governing various aspects of the employment relationship, both statutory and common law. Covers the establishment and parameters of employment, the security of the worker, employer's rights, and terminations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 654V. Public Interest Externship. 1-3 Hour.

Public Interest Externships are experiences available to students having completed 30 hours toward the JD degree. Students work part-time -- 12 hours/week over 14 weeks (variable in summer) -- serving an underprivileged population in traditional and non-traditional public service and public interest sectors. By participating in/observing various tasks, students develop legal and professional skills appropriate to various areas and types of law. There is a Field and an Academic Component to this course. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer) May be repeated for up to 12 hours of degree credit.

#### LAWW 6553. Arbitration Skills. 3 Hours.

This course explores the practical as well as the legal problems presented by the use of alternative dispute resolution (ADR) to resolve disputes, with an emphasis on employment. While other areas of ADR will be touched upon, such as mediation and peer-review, the primary focus of the course will be on arbitration as the means to resolve problems in the workplace and commercial context generally. The course provides instruction and practice (through a variety of simulations) assessing all aspects of arbitration, including when/whether to arbitrate, selecting the arbitrator, conducting an arbitration, and post-hearing issues. Students will become familiar with the most common techniques and strategies that lawyers use in employment arbitration, and should be better prepared to represent your client's interests in that proceeding. (Typically offered: Irregular)

### LAWW 6562. Legal Clinic: Advanced Immigration. 2 Hours.

tThe Advanced Immigration Law Clinic allows students to obtain an additional 2 credits of experience. Only students who have completed the Immigration Law Clinic may take the Advanced course in a subsequent semester. The Clinic provides opportunities for students preparing for a career in immigration law by developing skills that are critical in legal practice through an experiential learning model. The Clinic allows for continuity in cases, as well as opportunities to handle more advanced and diverse cases. The Clinic is offered to 2-3 students per semester. Each will receive 2 credits. Students are expected to work approximately 4 hours per credit hour, per week, including work done for class preparation, group work, individual meetings, and representation. Students are chosen through an application process including a brief statement on interest in Immigration Law and goals for study in the Advanced Clinic. Prerequisite: LAWW 6364. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

#### LAWW 660V. Government Externship. 1-3 Hour.

Government Externships are experiences available to students having completed 30 hours toward the JD degree. Students work part-time -- 12 hours/week over 14 weeks (variable in summer) -- alongside government attorneys, exposing students to legal issues and practice in government agencies. By participating in/ observing various tasks, students develop legal and professional skills appropriate to government work. There is a Field and an Academic Component to this course. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring) May be repeated for up to 12 hours of degree credit.

## LAWW 661V. Bankruptcy. 2-3 Hour.

Study of the philosophy behind and practical application of federal bankruptcy law. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6633. Criminal Procedure: Adjudication. 3 Hours.

This course focuses on prosecuting crime. Principal topics include: the prosecutor's decision to charge, the role of defense counsel, initial appearance, bail and pretrial release, grand juries and preliminary hearings, discovery, guilty pleas and plea bargaining, speedy trial, double jeopardy, trials and pretrial motions, sentencing and post-conviction remedies. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6702. Copyright Law. 2 Hours.

The nature of the rights, acquisition and enforcement, and property and contract interests in copyrights. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

#### LAWW 671V. Judicial Externship. 1-3 Hour.

Judicial Externships are experiences available to students having completed 30 hours toward the JD degree. Students work part-time - 12 hours/week over 14 weeks (variable in summer) - in judicial chambers, exposing students to the court system and the adjudication of cases from the judge's perspective. By observing proceedings/engaging in research/judicial writing, students develop legal and professional skills appropriate to litigation. There is a Field and an Academic Component to this course. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer) May be repeated for up to 12 hours of degree credit.

## LAWW 673V. Criminal Defense Externship. 1-3 Hour.

Criminal Defense Externships are experiences available to students having completed 30 hours toward the JD degree. Students work part-time -- 12 hours/ week over 14 weeks (variable in summer) -- alongside Public Defenders, exposing students to criminal law and strategy from the defense perspective. By participating in/observing various tasks, students develop legal and professional skills appropriate to criminal defense world. There is a Field and an Academic Component to this course. (Typically offered: Irregular) May be repeated for up to 12 hours of degree credit.

#### LAWW 676V. Capstone Externship. 1-12 Hour.

Capstone Externships are experiences available to students having completed 60 hours toward the JD degree. These full-time externships place students alongside working attorneys in any one of the externships below -- 35-40 hours/week over 15 weeks (10-12 weeks in summer) -- exposing students to greater responsibility and more in-depth projects. There is a Field and an Academic Component to this course. (Typically offered: Irregular) May be repeated for up to 12 hours of degree credit.

#### LAWW 6822. Patent Law. 2 Hours.

Study of the patent system of the United States, including conditions for a valid patent, procedures of the patent office, and litigation relating to patents. Not offered every year. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 683V. Criminal Prosecution Externship. 1-3 Hour.

Criminal Prosecution Externships are experiences available to students having completed 30 hours toward the JD degree. Students work part-time -- 12 hours/week over 14 weeks (variable in summer) -- alongside prosecutors, exposing students to criminal law and strategy from the prosecutorial perspective. By participating in/observing various tasks, students develop legal and professional skills appropriate to criminal prosecution. There is a Field and an Academic Component to this course. (Typically offered: Irregular) May be repeated for up to 12 hours of degree credit.

## LAWW 6843. Legal Clinic: Advanced Civil Litigation and Advocacy Clinic. 3 Hours.

Students in the Advanced Civil Litigation & Advocacy Clinic (CLAC) continue their representation of low-income clients seeking to enforce their rights in civil matters. While the Clinic docket varies, it usually consists primarily of unpaid wage cases as well as other civil matters. Under close faculty supervision, you will further develop your ability to effectively and ethically practice law while providing muchneeded legal services. As an advanced clinic student, you will exercise increased independence and take on more complex matters. Prerequisite: LAWW 6924. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 686V. Corporate Counsel Externships. 1-4 Hour.

Corporate Counsel Externships are experiences available to students having completed 30 hours toward the JD degree. Students work part-time -- 16 hours/ week over 14 weeks (variable in summer) -- alongside attorneys in traditional legal departments/non-traditional business-compliance areas, exposing students to legal issues facing these attorneys daily. By observing/participating in various tasks, students develop legal and professional skills appropriate to corporations. There is a Field and an Academic component to this course. (Typically offered: Irregular) May be repeated for up to 12 hours of degree credit.

#### LAWW 6873. Legal Clinic: Advanced Nonprofit Clinic. 3 Hours.

Students who have successfully completed the Transactional Clinic in the fall or spring semester may enroll for 3 hours of graded credit in the Advanced Transactional Clinic in any subsequent semester. Students will be assigned a normal client load during both semesters. In the summer students may enroll in Transactional Clinic and Advanced Transactional Clinic during the same term. Students will be assigned to provide legal representation to qualified nonprofit organizations under the supervision of a faculty member. Students will have the opportunity interview and counsel nonprofit entities and perform a number of transactional legal services for corporate clients including: drafting bylaws, preparing and filing articles of incorporation, completing and submitting applications for tax exempt status with state and federal tax agencies; and preparing and filing articles of dissolution. Admission to Advanced Clinic in connection with any of the eligible clinic courses is limited and by approval of the faculty member. Prerequisite: Qualification for Rule XV practice. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 6913. Environmental Law. 3 Hours.

Devoted primarily to the legal problems related to the environment. Included is consideration of environmental impact in public and private decision making. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 6924. Legal Clinic: Civil Litigation and Advocacy Clinic. 4 Hours.

Students will represent low-income clients seeking to enforce their rights in civil matters. Under close faculty supervision, students will develop and refine their ability to effectively and ethically practice law. Students will handle all aspects of client representation, including interviewing and counseling, fact investigation and discovery, negotiation, and court appearances. Students will also participate in a weekly seminar and may have the opportunity to engage in other forms of advocacy. Cumulative GPA of 2.00, successful completion of 48 semester hours, including Civil Procedure I and II, Criminal Procedure, Evidence, and Professional Responsibility, and qualifying for Rule XV practice. Prerequisite: LAWW 4173, LAWW 5013 and LAWW 6093. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

## LAWW 6933. Legal Clinic: Human Trafficking. 3 Hours.

Students complete advocacy projects for organizations that confront and prevent human trafficking. Students may employ a range of public interest practice strategies including report writing, legislative drafting, and community education. During the seminar, students develop skills related to their advocacy projects. Students also study the human trafficking problem and anti-trafficking laws and evaluate anti-trafficking strategies. Students learn interviewing and counseling skills, and how to work with survivors of trauma and across cultural and language difference. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

#### LAWW 6943. Public International Law. 3 Hours.

Principles of international law involving relations among government. The function of international tribunals and organizations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 697V. Legal Clinic: Advanced Bankruptcy. 2-3 Hour.

Legal Clinic: Advanced Federal Practice provides opportunities for students preparing for a career in consumer bankruptcy law by developing skills that are critical in legal practice through an experiential learning model. The Advanced Federal Practice Clinic will allow for continuity in cases, as well as opportunities to handle more advanced and diverse cases. Offered to 2-3 students each semester, students enrolled in this course must have taken Federal Practice Clinic, gaining basic knowledge of bankruptcy law and procedure. Students are expected to work approximately 4 hours per credit hour, per week, including work done for class preparation, group work, individual meetings, and representation. Students are chosen through the application process. Prerequisite: LAWW 6374. (Typically offered: Fall and Spring)

### LAWW 704V. Federal Regulation of Food Labeling and Safety. 1-4 Hour.

Welcome to Federal Regulation of Food Labeling & Food Safety. This course will explore the federal law that applies to the labeling of food products by examining discreet topics, including the labeling of genetically engineered ingredients, food fraud, organic labeling, and the new restaurant menu regulations. It will also explore the federal regulation of food safety, examining food recalls, the food code, and traceability. The law, the role of government, the perspective of industry and the interest consumers will all be examined. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 706V. Sports Law. 2-3 Hour.

The major topics covered include significant contract issues, tort liability involving participants, institutions, physicians and equipment manufacturers, criminal liability, drug testing, constitutional and related issues dealing with sports associations and Title 9 and gender equity issues. Other relevant topics may also be covered if possible. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 7071. Agricultural Cooperatives and Local Food Systems. 1 Hour.

Introduction to the legal structure of a cooperative and examination of the recent use of the cooperative model in encouraging local and regional food systems. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 7073. Mediation in Practice. 3 Hours.

This three credit course is an introduction to the process of mediation and focuses on mediation theory and practice. The course provides a comprehensive overview of the mediation process, including the role of the mediator, litigants, attorneys, the courts and other relevant participants. Students are taught the basic skills needed to participate in a mediation as a mediator or as an advocate, and introduced to the ways in which mediation is used in various settings such as state and federal courts, and government agencies. Because this is skills class, it includes a lot of interactive work, including simulated mediations. All students are required to actively participate in the simulated mediations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 708V. Selected Issues in Agricultural and Food Law. 1-3 Hour.

Specialized study of one or more current issues in agricultural and food law, regulation, and policy. (Typically offered: Spring)

## LAWW 710V. Agricultural Biotechnology. 1-2 Hour.

Study of the regulation of agricultural biotechnology, including the approval process for new technologies, the patenting of new products and technologies, and the restrictions associated with their use. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 7111. Introduction to Agricultural Taxation. 1 Hour.

Overview of federal income tax law as applied to agricultural operations. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 713V. Agricultural Water Law. 1-2 Hour.

Study of the basic legal principles applicable to water rights through consideration of water rights for agricultural use. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### LAWW 714V. The Right to Food. 1-3 Hour.

Is the right to adequate food recognized as a human right under international law? Should the right to adequate food be recognized as a human rights? How is the human right to adequate food defined & implemented? What are the core elements of the right to adequate food? What is the scope of this right? What are the present and future threats to the right to food? How are individuals & communities whose right to food are compromised fighting back? This course introduces the principle & concept of the human right to adequate food and its practical application and implications. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 7211. Energy Policy and Agriculture. 1 Hour.

Survey of the legal dimensions of various energy issues occurring on agricultural lands and in rural areas, including wind power, solar power, ethanol production, power line transmission, and fracking. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 7231. Effective Legal Writing. 1 Hour.

Effective Legal Writing is a course about writing. Students review and revise written examples, discussing the fundamentals of writing in the plain English style. Class discussions are guided by various readings on plain English writing and students' wit, wisdom, and disputatious opinions about such phrases as "pursuant to," "in order to," and the like. The course seeks to be a fun way to learn more about how to be an effective legal writer. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 7243. Health Law. 3 Hours.

An examination of the role of the law in determining access to and regulation of the quality of services provided by the health care industry. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 726V. Farmed Animal Welfare Law and Policy. 1-2 Hour.

Examination of the legal issues involved in determining welfare standards for animals raised for food. In addition to introducing federal animal welfare and humane slaughter laws, state referenda, state law standards, and so-called "ag gag" laws are studied. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 727V. Food Safety Litigation. 1-2 Hour.

Examination of food borne illness litigation with an initial introduction to food product liability followed by the study of actual cases brought against food manufactures. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 7312. Agricultural Perspectives. 2 Hours.

Agriculture has a rich and varied history, and today's issues are often best understood in the context of this history. This course examines a wide range of social and economic issues, considering their origin and how history is reflected in today's policies. The course includes a series of documentaries. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### LAWW 7321. Agricultural Policy and the Federal Budget. 1 Hour.

Study of the impact of the Office of Management and Budget and the cost scoring system on federal agricultural policy making in Washington, D.C. Current farm policy issues are discussed within the context of budgetary constraints and pressures. (Typically offered: Fall)

### LAWW 740V. Federal Farm Programs and Crop Insurance. 1-2 Hour.

Survey of the complex network of federal farm programs and federal crop insurance programs that are available to U.S. producers. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 741V. Food, Farming and Sustainability. 1-3 Hour.

Survey of the complex legal topics that make up the body of agricultural and food law focusing on current issues of significance. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 7501. Farm Succession Planning. 1 Hour.

Farm succession planning is one of the most important aspects of farm management but one of the most difficult to discuss with most producers. Traditional notions of how a farm estate should be divided among heirs can often conflict with what is best for the farm business and the testator's wishes. This course will equip students with basic tools to facilitate meaningful discussion among family members about the development and maintenance of a farm succession plan. Students will examine various instruments for accomplishing succession planning goals including wills, trusts, and business structures. The course will also touch on the role of conservation easements, tax considerations, and the importance of encouraging families to begin transferring the farming operation to the heirs before the testators pass. (Typically offered: Spring)

### LAWW 7511. Introduction to the Law of Food and Agriculture. 1 Hour.

Orientation course that provides an overview of the legal and policy issues presented by the production of food and fiber, including a discussion of structural changes in agriculture, sustainability issues, and trends in consumer interest. (Typically offered: Fall)

#### LAWW 7581. Legal Issues in Land Tenure. 1 Hour.

Legal Issues in Land Tenure explores the role of land ownership in American agriculture. It examines the history of federal land policy and the current reality of farmland tenure in the U.S., asking questions such as who owns American farmland; how does ownership impact conservation practices, and how can we support a more diverse network of beginning farmers? This course combines issues of social justice, environmental ethics, and basic property law to address some of the most critical issues of our time. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 7612. Advanced Consumer Bankruptcy. 2 Hours.

Study of recent developments in the law of bankruptcy as it applies to consumer and non-consumer transactions. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 762V. Legal Issues: Indigenous Food and Agriculture. 1-2 Hour.

Overview of the legal, historic, social, and economic issues important to sustainable food and agriculture development in Indian Country. It features in-depth discussion of historic and emerging issues including land use challenges, tribal food and agriculture code development, and barriers to effective agriculture development. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 763V. Regulated Markets in Agriculture. 1-2 Hour.

Study of the economic regulation of specific sectors of the agricultural industry focusing on perishable agricultural commodities (fruits and vegetables), and dairy products. Included is the study of formal and informal administrative review. (Typically offered: Spring)

#### LAWW 764V. Practicum in Agricultural & Food Law. 1-4 Hour.

This experiential course provides LL.M. candidates with an opportunity to work with agencies, advocacy organizations, businesses, and others engaged in agricultural & food law practice and policy throughout the country. Work can be performed onsite or via distance. Prerequisite: Only available to students admitted to the LL.M. Program. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

## LAWW 765V. Intellectual Property Issues in the Food & Agricultural Sector. 1-3 Hour.

This course offers an overview of the key IP issues in food and agriculture. The focus is on five types of IP - Trademarks, Trade Secrets, Geographical Indicators (GIs), Copyrights, and Patents. The course will introduce students to IP law (domestic, regional and global) and will look at the expansion of IPRs in food and agriculture. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 7662. American Indian Law. 2 Hours.

Study of the domestic federal law of the United States as it applies to Native Americans and their tribes. The general concept of tribal self-determination is the unifying theme of the course. Particular topics include tribal sovereignty and government; American Indian civil rights; administration of justice on and off the reservation; American Indian land claims; land, hunting, and fishing rights; water rights; American Indian health, education, and welfare; Bureau of Indian Affairs; state taxation; individual and tribal treaty rights; federal Indian policy; and zoning and environmental controls. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 770V. Advanced Writing in Agricultural and Food Law. 1-4 Hour.

Research in a specialized area of agricultural or food law and development of a paper that demonstrates rigorous legal analysis and quality legal writing. (Typically offered: Spring) May be repeated for degree credit.

## LAWW 771V. Independent Research in Agricultural and Food Law. 1-2 Hour.

Independent research in agricultural and food law conducted under the supervision of a faculty member. (Typically offered: Fall, Spring and Summer)

## LAWW 774V. Urban Agriculture: Law and Policy. 1-2 Hour.

Study of the legal issues raised by the rising interest in urban agricultural activities. Topics of study include land use and zoning issues, farmers market issues, and legal issues associated with community sponsored agriculture. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 776V. Agricultural Finance and Credit. 1-3 Hour.

Study of the legal issues surrounding the financing of agricultural operations, including credit availability, agricultural security issues under the Uniform Commercial Code, and debt restructuring opportunities. Special focus is on lending options offered by the Farm Service Agency and the Farm Credit System. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 7773. Water Law. 3 Hours.

Study of real property principles governing ownership rights in water and the federal and state statues controlling the use of water. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 778V. Agricultural Labor Law. 1-2 Hour.

Study of the legal, social, and economic issues that arise from the extensive use of migrant labor in U.S. agricultural operations. Topics include agricultural exemptions from labor laws, the Migrant & Seasonal Agricultural Worker Protection Act, and agriculture's reliance on undocumented alien workers. (Typically offered: Spring)

## LAWW 782V. Food Security, Social Justice, & the Law. 1-2 Hour.

Survey of the legal and policy issues raised by the food justice movement. Topics covered include food insecurity and poverty, public health concerns such as obesity, the economics of healthy eating, food deserts, and food waste. Each will be considered in light of the legal and governmental policy issues raised. (Typically offered: Fall Odd Years)

## LAWW 785V. Federal Nutrition Law and Policy. 1-2 Hour.

Study of federal nutrition policy, including the development of the federal nutrition standards, the framework for the food assistance programs, the federal school lunch program, and the government's efforts to encourage healthy eating. Prerequisite: LAWW 786V. (Typically offered: Irregular)

#### LAWW 786V. Food Law and Policy. 1-3 Hour.

An introduction to the network of laws that govern our food system. An overview of regulation by both the Food & Drug Administration and the USDA is provided. Policy considerations are discussed in light of current issues. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 7932. Environmental Regulation of Agriculture. 2 Hours.

This course examines the major federal environmental statutes applicable to agricultural operations with attention to current cases and controversies under those laws. It also explores the regulatory authority and enforcement practices of the EPA and other agencies. (Typically offered: Spring)

## LAWW 794V. Business, Human Rights, & Corporate Social Responsibility. 1-3 Hour.

Business has helped lift people around the world out of poverty. However, businesses can have a serious impact on human rights. This is true for businesses in the food and agricultural sector. Around the globe companies in all sectors are contributing to human rights abuses. With globalization, the proliferation of multinational corporations, and increase in the scale and volume of foreign direct investment, the situation appears to be getting worse. The course explores the business-human rights nexus with a particular focus on the food and agricultural sector and on case studies from around the world. (Typically offered: Irregular)

## LAWW 796V. Agriculture and the Environment. 1-3 Hour.

Agriculture is increasingly criticized for its impact on the environment. This course examines the tensions between the desire to produce food and fiber efficiently and concern for sustainability and the protection of natural resources. (Typically offered: Fall)

## **Glossary**

Academic Dismissal. An academic status (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/academicregulations/academicprobationsuspensionanddismissal/) resulting from unsatisfactory grades in which students are not permitted to enroll at the university until approved through an appeal process.

**Academic Probation.** An academic status (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/academicregulations/academicprobationsuspensionanddismissal/) resulting from unsatisfactory grades.

Academic Suspension. An academic status (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/academicregulations/academicprobationsuspensionanddismissal/) for unsatisfactory grades in which students are not permitted to register for courses for a specified time period.

Act 1052/467. Section 21 of Arkansas Act 467 of 1989 specifies that all first-time entering freshmen who are enrolled in a bachelor's degree program will be placed in either college-level credit courses in English and mathematics or developmental courses in English composition, reading, and mathematics on the basis of their scores on specified tests. Find out more in the Registration (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/orientationandregistration/) section of the catalog.

**Activity Course.** Course devoted to participation in, knowledge of, or performance of some form of physical activity.

Add. See Drop/Add below.

**Advance Registration.** A period of time scheduled during a regular (fall or spring) semester that allows currently enrolled students to register for the next regular semester. In addition, advance registration for the summer sessions is scheduled during the spring semester.

**Applied Instruction.** A course that integrates both the teaching and hands-on application of knowledge or information; attends to the practical and utilitarian function of the subject (distinguished from theoretical). Examples may include: livestock judging team, music and art courses, cooperative education, and experiential learning.

**Apprenticeship/Externship.** Experiential learning opportunity to give students practical exposure and training in a career field. This is generally off-campus, supervised, and designed to prepare students for the transition from school to career.

**Area Studies.** Interdisciplinary study of geographical or cultural areas. Topics include the history, geography, politics, culture, language, and literature of the area. Generally, an area study is a minor or a second major. Examples of area studies include African and African American studies, Latin American and Latino studies, and Middle East studies.

Audit. To take a course without credit.

**Adviser.** A faculty or staff member assigned to a student to advise that student on academic matters that include degree requirements and selection of courses.

**Certification/Licensure Requirements.** The set of course, hour, and other academic requirements that must be completed to receive certification/licensure such as certification to teach in the public schools.

**Class Schedule.** List of courses and sections for a specific semester, including names of instructors; day, hour, and place of class meetings; and detailed registration procedures. The class schedule is available online.

**Clinical Rotation/Instruction.** Course that takes place in a clinical setting, including practice labs, hospitals, and other agencies; students apply methods and principles of a clinical discipline.

**College or School.** One of ten major divisions within the university that offers specialized curricula.

**Combined Major.** A combination of subsets of two primary discipline specific requirements (each of which is typically 15 to 24 hours and less than the number required for a major) which together constitute the major in a program of study leading to one bachelor's degree with a combined major in two disciplines. For example, a Bachelor of Arts degree with a combined major in English and journalism.

**Concentration.** A subset of requirements within the discipline-specific (field of study or major) requirements in a program of study leading to a graduate or bachelor's degree. Examples are the Doctor of Philosophy degree with physics as the field of study and a concentration in neuroscience or a Bachelor of Music degree with a major in music and a concentration in jazz studies. Concentrations will print on the transcript.

**Consent.** A prerequisite that requires the student to obtain approval from the instructor or the department before he or she will be allowed to register for the course.

Core. Core is a set of required coursework specified for students at the college/school, department, or program/area level. Core is what is required for all students at that level or in that program. Hours will vary depending upon the major. Core and major requirements are usually stated in terms of specific courses or lists of courses from which any course chosen will meet the requirement. The "list" may actually be a defined set such as lower-level courses or upper-level courses; courses in the department, in the program, or in the college; or courses identified by one or more course, program, or department codes.

Elective courses may involve a greater or lesser degree of student choice. A general elective course could be one that is needed to complete the number of hours required for the degree when no other requirements remain to be met. A free elective course may be one that is not needed to complete either course requirements or hour requirements.

**Corequisite.** A course that must be taken at the same time as the course described.

Correspondence. See Self-Paced (Correspondence) below.

Course. A unit of academic instruction.

**Course Deficiencies.** Lacking required units of study in high school. Find out more in the Placement and Proficiency portion (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/enrollmentservices/ placementandproficiencytests/) of the Enrollment Services section of the catalog.

**Course Load.** The number of semester credit hours a student may schedule in a given term.

**Credit Hour**. See Academic Policy 1200.40 (https://provost.uark.edu/policies/120040.php) for university's credit hour definition.

**Cumulative Grade-Point Average.** An average computed by dividing the total number of grade points earned by the total number of credit hours attempted in all courses for which grades (rather than marks) are given.

**Curriculum.** A program of courses comprising the formal requirements for a degree in a particular field of study.

Degree Program. The program of study defined by sets of academic requirements that lead to a degree that the university is authorized to offer. Undergraduate degree requirements are typically stated in terms of numbers of credit hours and specific courses at university, college/school, and discipline levels. Graduate degree requirements are typically stated in terms of numbers of credit hours and specific courses at discipline levels. Examples are a Bachelor of Science degree program, which typically has a minimum of 120 hours; a Master of Arts degree program, which typically has a minimum of 30 hours; and a Doctor of Philosophy degree program, which has a minimum of 72 graduate semester credit hours beyond the bachelor's degree and 42 graduate-only semester hours beyond the master's degree.

**Department.** Division of faculty or instruction within a college, such as Department of Accounting within the Sam M. Walton College of Business.

Dependent Major. See Second Major below.

**Dissertation/Thesis Research.** Research conducted and submitted in support of candidature for a degree or professional qualification; a formal treatise presenting the results of study submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of an advanced degree; process requires intensive interaction between student and professor.

**Double Degree Program.** A program of study that includes one set of university requirements and two sets of college or school and primary discipline-specific requirements and leads to two different bachelor's degrees with two different majors. Such a program could, for example, lead to a Bachelor of Science degree with a major in chemistry and a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering degree. Such programs are comparatively rare, and hours required to complete them vary, depending upon overlap in requirements.

**Double Major.** The two complete sets of primary discipline-specific requirements (typically consisting of a minimum of 30 hours each) constituting the two majors within a program of study leading to one bachelor's degree with two complete majors. For example, a Bachelor of Arts degree with a double major in Spanish and French.

Drill. Supplemental instruction or practice using repetition or discussion.

**Drop/Add.** Dropping or adding of select courses while still remaining enrolled in the university. This can only be done during specified times as published in the academic calendar (http://registrar.uark.edu/academic-dates/academic-semester-calendar/). See also *Withdrawal* below.

**Eight-Semester Degree Completion Program.** Most majors offered by the University of Arkansas can be completed in eight semesters, and the university provides plans that show students which classes to take each semester in order to finish in eight semesters. A few undergraduate majors either require a summer internship or fieldwork or are five-year professional programs, and may therefore not qualify for the eight-semester degree completion program.

**Elective.** Elective courses may involve a greater or lesser degree of student choice. A general elective course could be one that is needed to complete the number of hours required for the degree when no other

requirements remain to be met. A free elective course may be one that is not needed to complete either course requirements or hour requirements.

**Equivalent.** A course allowed in place of a similar course in the same academic discipline. May require approval by an academic dean.

Externship. See Apprenticeship/Externship above.

**Fees.** Charges, additional to tuition, that cover specific university services, programs, facilities, activities and/or events. Find out more in the undergraduate Fee and Cost Estimates (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/feeandcosts/) section or the graduate Fee and Cost Estimates (http://catalog.uark.edu/graduatecatalog/feeandgeneralinformation/) section.

**Field of Study.** The primary discipline-specific (or multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary) set of requirements in a graduate program of study. The field of study typically consists of a minimum of 30 hours at the master's degree level, of 30 hours beyond the master's degree at the educational specialist level, and of 96 hours for the doctor of education degree. Field of study hour requirements vary more widely for the doctor of philosophy degree, but 60 hours is typical. For example, a Master of Arts degree in history, a Master of Arts in Teaching degree in teacher education, an Education Specialist degree in curriculum and instruction, a Doctor of Education degree in higher education, a Doctor of Philosophy degree in business administration.

**Field Studies.** Hands-on study undertaken outside the laboratory or place of learning, usually in a natural environment or among the general public. Examples may include archeological and geological field studies.

**Focused Studies.** A set of courses that a student may elect to take as part of the major requirements that provides focus in a particular area related to the major. Completing a focused study is not required for the major, but serves as a guide for students who want to further specialize their studies. Focused studies do not need ADHE approval and do not appear on the transcript.

**Grade Points.** Points per semester hour assigned to a grade (not a mark), indicating numerical value of the grade. The grade-point average indicates overall performance and is computed by dividing the total number of grade points earned by the number of semester hours attempted.

**Grade Sanction(s).** A penalty for academic dishonesty. Grade sanctions may consist of either a grade of zero or a failing grade on part or all of a submitted assignment or examination or the lowering of a course grade, or a failing grade of XF to denote failure by academic dishonesty.

**Hazing.** Any activity that is required of an individual that may cause mental or physical stress and/or embarrassment when in the process of joining or belonging to any organization.

**Independent Study.** Project collaboratively designed by the instructor and student to pursue an area of study not covered by the established curriculum; typically completed without class attendance but through formal supervision by an instructor.

Internship. A formal program that provides practical experience in an occupation or profession; applied, monitored, and supervised, field-based learning experience for which the student may or may not be paid; may include field work/experience, supervised courses, student teaching, and cooperative education; provides opportunities for students to gain experience in a career field.

**Intersession.** A two-week mini-session that is held at the beginning of the regular fall, spring, and summer terms. Coursework during an intersession is very concentrated and intensive. Intersession classes are not available to new freshmen.

**Laboratory.** Course meeting in a defined physical setting for the handson application of methods and principles of a discipline; credit-bearing section which requires a registration separate from the lecture component of the course.

Lecture. A class session in which an instructor speaks on a specific topic.

**Lecture/laboratory.** Lecture course which integrates a lab component as part of the same course registration.

**Major.** The primary discipline-specific (or multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary) set of requirements in an undergraduate program of study. The major typically consists of a minimum of 30 hours and identifies by name a specific degree area. For example, a Bachelor of Arts degree with a major in English or a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration degree with a major in accounting.

**Minor.** The lesser set of discipline-specific (or multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary) requirements in an undergraduate program of study. The minor typically consists of a minimum of 15 hours or more in a designated discipline.

**Noncredit Course.** A course for which no credit is given. (Some credit courses will not count toward degrees.)

**Overload.** A course load of more semester hours than a student is normally permitted to schedule in a given period.

**Practicum.** Involves supervised activities emphasizing practical application of theory, especially one in which a student gains exposure to a field of study; generally required as part of the program curriculum.

**Pre-Professional Requirements.** The set of course, hour, and other academic requirements that must be completed before entry into a school, a program of study, or an advanced level of a program of study, either at the U of A or at another institution.

**Prerequisite.** A course or requirement that must be completed before the term when the described course is taken.

**Private Study.** Involves individual instruction with regular meetings; one-to-one demonstration, performance critique, music, fine arts or performing arts are examples.

**Readings.** A course where the instructor assigns readings and facilitates discussion at regular class meetings.

**Registration.** Enrollment at the beginning or prior to the beginning of a semester, including selection of classes and payment of fees and tuition.

**Research.** Research conducted that is independent of that done for a dissertation or thesis.

**Sanction(s).** The penalty for noncompliance to a policy. Usually a response that will redirect the individual or group's inappropriate behavior, encourage responsible judgment and ethical reasoning, protect the community's property and rights, and affirm the integrity of the institution's conduct standards.

**Section.** A division of a course for instruction. A course may be taught in one or more sections or classes or at different times, depending on enrollment in the course.

Second/Dependent Major. A second complete set of primary discipline-specific requirements in a discipline in which only a second or dependent major may be earned. A second major must be earned in a degree program in which the first major is one authorized to be given independently. Typically, a minimum of 30 hours is earned in each major area or discipline. Examples of second major areas are African and African American studies, Middle East studies, and Latin American and Latino Studies. An example of a degree with a second major is a Bachelor of Arts degree with a major in political science and a second major in Middle East studies. The second major is always listed second on the transcript.

**Self-Paced (Correspondence).** Course in which instruction is web-based and students are physically separated from the instructor. Interaction between instructor and student is not regular or substantive, and is primarily initiated by the student. These courses are self-paced and are not distance education. Students are not required to be admitted to the University of Arkansas to take a self-paced course.

**Semester Credit Hour.** Unit of measure of college work. One semester credit hour is normally equivalent to one hour of class work or from two to six hours of laboratory work per week for a semester.

**Seminar.** Involves a small group of students engaged in advanced study and original research under a member of the faculty and meeting regularly to exchange information and hold discussions; highly focused and topical course; may include student presentations and discussions of reports based on literature, practices, problems, or research.

**Special Problems.** Individualized investigation of topics or case studies in a specific field under the supervision of an instructor for the purpose of enhancing or illuminating the regular curriculum.

**Special Topics.** An organized course devoted to a particular issue in a specific field; course content is not necessarily included in the regular curriculum for the major.

State Minimum Core. See University Core below.

**Student Number.** A number given to each student as a permanent identification number for use at the university.

**Studio Course.** Involves the application of design and theory in a defined physical setting; students explore and experiment under the guidance of an instructor.

**Summer Sessions.** Periods of time during the summer when course work is offered. (Go to the Academic Calendar (p. 3) for specific times and dates.)

**Syllabus.** An outline or summary of the main points of a course of study, lecture, or text.

**Telecommunications.** Course that utilizes technology in conveying teaching material. This only includes courses that use technology as the primary delivery method of course content, not courses that simply use technology to support another delivery method. These are distant education courses that generally:Uses one or more of the following technologies to deliver instruction to students who are separated from the instructor and to support regular and substantive interaction between

the students and the instructor, synchronously or asynchronously. The technologies used may include:

- · The Internet;
- One-way and two-way transmissions through open broadcast, closed circuit, cable, microwave, broadband lines, fiber optics, satellite, or wireless communications devices;
- · Audio-conferencing, etc.; or
- Videocassettes, DVDs, and CD-Roms, if the videocassettes, DVDs, or CD-Roms are used in conjunction with any of the technologies listed in the first three options

Thesis Research. See Dissertation/Thesis Research above.

**Track.** A subdivision of a concentration that a student must select and fulfill to complete the requirements of the concentration. Examples are the portfolio and thesis tracks within the specialist concentration in the Master of Arts in English degree. Tracks will print on the transcript.

**Transcript.** A **complete** record of the student's enrollment and academic history at the University of Arkansas, including **all** undergraduate, graduate, and law courses.

**Tuition.** The charge for university enrollment and registration, calculated per credit hour each semester. Tuition rates may vary depending on a student's resident status, undergraduate or graduate standing, and college affiliation. Tuition does not include cost of room and board. Additional charges will apply depending on student status. See the entry for Fees above.

UAConnect (https://uaconnect.uark.edu/). The online database that maintains student, faculty and staff records and class schedules.

**Undeclared Major.** Designation indicating students who have not selected a major.

**Undergraduate Study.** Work taken toward earning an associate or a baccalaureate degree.

University Core. The state of Arkansas specifies a number of core courses that students must successfully pass to obtain a degree. These are also sometimes referred to as the State Minimum Core. Find out more in the Requirements for Graduation (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/academicregulations/requirementsforgraduation/) and University Core (http://catalog.uark.edu/undergraduatecatalog/academicregulations/universitycore/) portions of the Academic Regulations section.

**Withdrawal.** Official withdrawal (http://registrar.uark.edu/registration/withdrawal.php) from all courses during a semester at the university.

In establishing the official count of degrees awarded by the U of A, the Arkansas Department of Higher Education will count only one degree (major) for each student who completes a degree with double or combined majors. U of A staff may note in which major the degree is counted. Two degrees are counted only if the student completes two separate degree programs, a Master of Arts and a Master of Science, for instance.

# Index

#	
2020-21 Academic Calendar	3
A	
Academic Policies	19
Administrative Officers	6
В	
Board of Advocates	27
Board of Trustees	5
Business Law (BLAW)	13
Business Law (BLAW)	30
C	
Contact Information	2
Costs & Financial Aid	17
Courses of Instruction	30
Criminal Law (CRLW)	15
E	
Experiential Learning	25
G	
Glossary	42
I	
International Programs	29
J	
J.D. Admissions and Courses	8
L	
Law (LAWW)	30
LL.M. in Agricultural and Food Law	12
P	
Pro Bono Programs	25
S	
	8
Students and Programs	25
U	
	7
Y	
Young Law Library	28